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CORPORATE PROFILE
ATS employs approximately 3,000 people
at 21 manufacturing facilities in Canada,
the United States, Europe, Southeast Asia
and China. The Company's shares are
traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange
under the symbol ATA. Visit the Company’s
website at www.atsautomation.com.
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Top: A Sortimat Spaceline assembly platform, conﬁgured
for needle-free injection device assembly.
Left: Consumer market machine in build and test cycle
at an ASG facility.
Centre: A string of solar cells is placed on glass and
EVA substrate during module assembly.
Right: Inspecting specialized life sciences equipment
during its qualiﬁcation run.
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To create value, we are focused on
separating our automation and solar
businesses, and pursuing growth, both
organically and through acquisition.
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AUTOMATION SYSTEMS GROUP (“ASG”)
Through ASG, ATS is an automation
industry leader based on breadth of
resources and technologies and the
strength of experience realized in
deploying more than 15,000 projects
for some of the world’s largest
companies since 1978.
A fuel tank assembly system for a large transportation customer.
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ASG SCALE
ASG operates in 20 manufacturing facilities worldwide. Our organizational structure
is designed around products, automation systems, services and global sales and
marketing to harness our industry leading capabilities and manage the “character”
(core competencies and market segments served) of our divisions. ASG’s scale
provides the ability to engage customers at project, program and enterprise levels
to offer value – from single machines to factory-wide automation – based on
differentiating technological solutions and customer outcomes achieved.
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ASG MARKETS

LIFE SCIENCES
Our Life Sciences group is an industry
leading provider to customers
contemplating production of medical
device, pharmaceutical, and diagnostic
equipment and consumables.
Customers use our expertise to identify and design
manufacturing solutions that comply with rigorous
regulatory requirements for quality and consistency while
meeting desired outcomes, including RoI and tight market
launch schedules. We employ our specialized knowledge to
translate our customers’ leading-edge innovations into
production-viable products that help them differentiate
themselves from their competitors.
Through our operations – including three dedicated
facilities that understand FDA Good Manufacturing Practice
(“GMP”) standards – we build and test fully integrated
material handling, automated manufacturing and assembly
systems, and packaging solutions capable of producing up to
1,000 parts per minute.

ATS has extensive experience in automated pharmacy systems, meeting FDA
requirements for track & trace of individual prescriptions.

Using ATS SmartVision™ software and our knowledge base, ATS designs and
delivers vision inspection systems that meet rigorous speciﬁcations.

We enhanced our life sciences market presence and
capabilities with the June 2010 acquisition of the Sortimat
Group. This acquisition added more than 1,000 life sciences
customers, specialized handling and feeder technologies,
advanced system development and experienced employees
who now serve within our Life Sciences team of 750
employees.

An assembly system that includes Sortimat feeder and handling capabilities,
processes seven parts into a ﬁnished product at 30 parts per minute.

Processing in aseptic environments is necessary in many life sciences projects.
ATS delivers integrated systems to meet these needs.
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ASG MARKETS

TRANSPORTATION
In the transportation industry, ATS is
widely recognized as a trusted name in
automation by the world’s leading OEMs
and tier 1 suppliers.
Based on our three decades of industry experience, ASG has
the capabilities to deliver complete automation programs
used by customers in manufacturing a wide range of
complex vehicle systems such as steering, safety, comfort,
fuel, suspension and electronic systems.
In ﬁscal 2011, ASG formed a dedicated Transportation group
following the acquisition of ATW. Along with operations in
Dayton ohio, Livonia Michigan and Neuwied Germany, ATW
added critical mass (two thirds of its revenue is derived in
automotive), a number of attractive customers, dedicated
employees and specialized automation and test system
technologies. Among these specialized technologies, ATS
brings expanded capabilities for engine, transmission, axle
and braking systems as well as systems for electric motors
and energy storage for hybrid vehicles.

Robots integrated with custom designed end-of-arm tools are often crucial
components in assembly and test systems.

In high volume manufacturing, material handling strategies are key to
providing work ﬂow buffering to help maximize system performance.

ASG’s Transportation group now comprises seven facilities
and over 550 employees.

Creating test systems requires specialized skills and knowledge. ATW’s addition
has expanded ATS’s capabilities and product offering in this important area.

ATS & ATW have an extensive experience base in automotive oEM assembly,
including electric and hybrid vehicle components.
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ASG MARKETS

CONSUMER AND
COMPUTER
ELECTRONICS
In high-volume assembly and packaging of
products for the consumer marketplace,
reliability and time to market are critical.

From assembly to packaging, ATS assembly systems are often integrated with
third-party packaging machines to offer turnkey solutions.

Since our founding, we have designed, built and supported
high-speed production systems that deliver sub-second
cycle times for products as varied as electrical devices,
computer peripherals and personal care products.
We specialize in applications that require a high degree of
accuracy and ﬂexibility and bring a value proposition that is
both clear and comprehensive. For customers, our value
starts with the ability to deliver simultaneous engineering,
prototyping and process veriﬁcation to help optimize the
design of their products speciﬁcally for automated assembly.
These are important services, especially when the customer
is introducing an advanced product that has never been
manufactured at full scale.

In electronics manufacturing, high accuracy motion with lasers can be key to
success. ATS has delivered hundreds of laser-based solutions.

once the customer’s product is optimized for
manufacturing, we provide tailored automation solutions
that encompass assembly, machining, plastics molding,
testing and real-time data collection and performance
analysis. The end result: high-speed product output with
consistent quality.

ATS’s patented Supertrak™ conveyor offers intelligent, programmable material
handling with industry leading performance.

With the growth of the ﬂat panel display market, ATS has actively participated
in the supply of specialized glass handling systems.
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ASG MARKETS

ENERGY
ATS has broad experience in the energy
industry, supplying manufacturing
solutions to customers whose products
create, store, convert and manage energy.
As a result, we serve a wide range of alternative energy
producers (including global photovoltaic manufacturers),
builders of nuclear reactors, such as AECL for whom we
provide systems to refurbish CANDU reactors, and the oil &
gas industry.
In solar, ASG leverages two decades of experience in
helping customers achieve the lowest possible cost per
watt. our extensive expertise in process equipment
engineering enables us to design and build custom and
standard automation solutions that consistently achieve
superior yields. our portfolio of automation products
include wafer & cell handling technology, cell sorters, solar
simulators, and module assembly automation.

ATS offers many automated manufacturing solutions to serve the PV market,
including module assembly equipment.

ATS serves the nuclear industry, offering specialized tools and resources in the
refurbishment of CANDU reactors worldwide.

In addition to serving the crystalline and thin ﬁlm PV
segments, we provide manufacturing automation for solar
thermal, concentrator and unique solar products.
Across the energy industry, customers rely on us for
complete solutions that include material handling,
automated assembly, quality and functional testing, data
integration to MES systems, as well as commissioning and
support of equipment. our solutions all have one thing in
common – they help our customers scale rapidly while
lowering their overall risk.
ATS participates in the supply of automated machinery for the assembly of
smart meters and related products.

With ATS’s scale of resources and global facility presence, it is able to deliver
turnkey, factory-wide manufacturing solutions.
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ASG PROFILE

ASG
PROGRESS
REPORT
OBJECTIVES

INITIATIVES

RESULTS
Unsatisfactory

Strengthen leadership

STRENGTHEN
ORGANIZATIONAL
EFFECTIVENESS

Spread best practices and
business processes
Eliminate and/or
remediate RED programs
Expand ASG’s patent
program

Reduce third-party
material costs

IMpROVE
SUppLy CHAIN
MANAGEMENT

Increase internal
subcontracting
Standardize products and
components

Develop division character

AdVANCE
AppROACH
TO MARkET
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Implement global account
management
Establish market
discriminators

Underway

Satisfactory

Progress in rolling out best
practices and processes
continued with newly
acquired divisions being
integrated into ASG’s
command and control
structure. A number of RED
programs taken on with
acquired businesses were
eliminated during the year,
which drove margin
improvements. Processes to
identify, protect and
leverage intellectual
property are in place.
Global supply chain
management made progress
in consolidating purchasing
power to achieve savings on
third-party purchases.
Internal subcontracting has
increased resulting in
improved global capacity
management.
The global sales and
marketing organization and
operating divisions have
been aligned with industry
markets served. Global
account management has
been implemented for all
accounts through the implementation and deployment
of a common CRM tool.
Programmatic offerings and
more comprehensive
solutions are gaining
traction in the marketplace.
ATS Automation Annual Report 2011

PHOTOWATT GROUP
The photowatt group is a recognized,
turnkey project developer and manufacturer of solar energy solutions for
industry, agriculture, and public authorities as well as solar plants and off-grid
applications. For more than 30 years, we
have contributed to the advancement of
the photovoltaic industry by bringing
solar technology to the world.

This 500kW rooftop installation for the City of Kitchener was supplied by
Photowatt ontario, and is one of the largest rooftop installations in Canada.
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Photowatt France’s manufacturing operations process silicon to produce wafers, cells
and ﬁnished PV module assemblies.
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PHOTOWATT GROUP PROFILE

PHOTOWATT
FRANCE
photowatt designs, manufactures and sells
solar modules and installation kits, and
provides solar power systems’ design and
other value-added services for customers
in Europe, the Middle East and Africa.
To date, it has sold more than three
million modules.

A Suntracker system with Photowatt modules tracks the sun across the sky to
maximize potential harvest.

Recently, Photowatt France (“PWF”) has undertaken a
restructuring project designed to grow system sales, reduce
costs at its production facility in Bourgoin-Jallieu, France
and improve its supply chain.
It is also working cooperatively with energy industry
leaders through the PV Alliance joint venture (“PVA”) to
develop new generation photovoltaic cells that combine
high performance with low costs. Recently, Photowatt
France formalized an agreement with one of its PVA
partners to supply modules made with 50% of the output
from the PVA cell line.

An industrial building is integrated with a 100kW rooftop installation of
Photowatt modules. © Bernard & Bonnefond.

Vision inspection and other quality control processes are executed during cell
manufacturing and other production steps.

During module production, ﬁnished PV cells are welded together to form an
electrical power-producing circuit.
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PHOTOWATT GROUP PROFILE

PHOTOWATT
ONTARIO
photowatt Ontario was established in
ﬁscal 2010 to serve and lead the Ontario
solar market by leveraging the Ontariobased manufacturing and substantial
automation capabilities of ATS and the
project skills and extensive global solar
expertise of the photowatt Group.
Today, Photowatt ontario (“PWo”) is producing photovoltaic
modules from a 100 megawatt module line at the ATS
campus in Cambridge ontario. This “Made in ontario”
production serves the rapidly growing ontario demand
from residential, commercial and industrial markets as well
as large-scale solar ﬁelds. The world-class line was designed
and built by the ATS Automation Systems Group’s
Cambridge division.

The opening ceremony at the City of Kitchener’s 500kW installation included
the Mayor, Provincial Ministers, and numerous elected officials.

Photowatt ontario’s 100MW module line includes automated framing
operations to maximize productivity.

This line is one element of our investment in ontario to
serve the market with module manufacturing and turnkey
solar project development and installations. Photowatt
ontario is also developing solar projects directly, including
64 megawatts of large-scale renewable energy projects in
Northern ontario with a joint venture partner and has
signed a number of developer agreements under which we
will supply modules and/or further develop solar
installation projects.
The ontario market is developing due to the ontario Green
Energy Act and renewable energy feed-in-tariff (FIT)
program that provides a 20-year, ﬁxed rate income stream
for qualifying solar projects. Photowatt ontario’s ready
capacity, ability to ramp capacity quickly, well established
local presence backed by international experience and
product quality are important competitive advantages.

Finished modules are inspected for peak power output and grouped with
similar rated modules prior to shipment.

Quality control processes include thermography inspection to verify the
integrity of a module’s electrical circuit.

11
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PHOTOWATT GROUP PROFILE

PHOTOWATT
PROGRESS
REPORT
OBJECTIVES

INITIATIVES

RESULTS
Unsatisfactory

STRENGTHEN
ORGANIZATIONAL
EFFECTIVENESS

Strengthen leadership
Advance the PV Alliance

Increase cell efficiency

REdUCE COST OF
OpERATIONS

Utilize supply chain
Reduce scrap
Reduce overhead costs

AdVANCE
AppROACH
TO MARkET
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Increase downstream
revenues
Build the ontario pipeline

Underway

Satisfactory

New leadership was
brought in to lead PWF and
PWo as they advance their
strategies. The PVA’s 25 MW
cell manufacturing line was
launched with the goal to
test and improve cell
efficiency.

PWF initiated a signiﬁcant
restructuring plan which
will result in an approximate 35% reduction of
PWF’s overall workforce,
outsourcing of module
production and the
potential for: optimized
production capacity,
process improvements
and investments in
technologies to increase
cell efficiency, reduce scrap
and reduce costs.

In France, increased MW’s
sold were not enough to
offset difficult market
conditions which negatively
impacted ASPs per watt. In
ontario, the majority of
PWo’s capacity for the next
two years is secured
through contracts and
customer agreements.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

ANTHONy CApUTO
Chief Executive Officer

Fellow Shareholders:

pERFORMANCE

Several years ago, we implemented a value creation plan
to: ﬁx our existing businesses; separate the Automation
Systems Group (“ASG”) and Photowatt; and grow. Since my
letter last year, we have continued to advance this plan.

our performance in ﬁscal 2011 reﬂected the challenges
and opportunities of our two distinct businesses; our
automation core and Photowatt.

At ASG, we have improved leadership and demonstrated
our ability to ﬁx signiﬁcant operational problems. We have
executed strategies to increase proﬁtability by reducing
costs, resolving underperforming programs and
operations, disseminating best practices, and revising our
approach to market.

At ASG, performance was strong, notwithstanding ﬁscal
year 2011 macro economic conditions and the impact of
acquisitions on margins (an impact that will dissipate as
these businesses are integrated to meet ATS performance
standards). We ended the year with the highest order
Bookings ever generated in a quarter, and entered ﬁscal
2012 with our highest ever order Backlog.

The actions we took have served ATS well through difficult
economic conditions that negatively impacted markets in
the latter half of ﬁscal 2009 and ﬁscal 2010. In ﬁscal 2011,
we saw a return to growth in ASG as our markets
improved and customer capital spending increased.
During ﬁscal year 2011, organic growth was complemented
by two important acquisitions: Sortimat Group – a leader
in advanced system development, manufacturing,
handling and feeder technologies for life sciences; and the
majority of Assembly & Test Worldwide’s (“ATW”) U.S.based and German automation and test systems
businesses. These acquisitions bring important capability,
technologies, customer relationships and market
expertise, and are accretive to our existing ASG business.
In our solar businesses, we worked to create the
conditions necessary for Photowatt to compete, grow
and operate on a standalone basis. In fiscal 2011,
Photowatt ontario launched a 100 megawatt module
line to serve the ontario and North American markets.
At Photowatt France, we announced a restructuring
program to restore competitiveness.
13

Losses in the Photowatt group resulted from restructuring
initiatives and regulatory changes in France that had a
negative impact on average selling prices and customer
activity and start up costs at Photowatt ontario. Efforts to
ﬁx Photowatt France have focused on positioning the
business as a provider of solar systems, including modules
and other components, and reducing manufacturing costs
per watt. Reductions in feed-in-tariffs (“FIT”) in France in
ﬁscal 2011 and a recent government moratorium on solar
installations over three kilowatts, will add further
pressure in an already competitive market. our decision
to outsource module production is designed to help the
business compete effectively with low-cost competition
from Asia, while maintaining its “Made in France”
advantage.
As we move into ﬁscal 2012, our efforts are focused on
affecting our separation plans and continuing to generate
growth.

ATS Automation Annual Report 2011

Letter to Shareholders
SEpARATION
Separation is an important step in our value creation
plan. our solar and automation businesses have different
value creation models and capital requirements and
appeal to different investors. Separation will enhance
long-term value by providing each enterprise with the
opportunity to achieve greater success by pursuing
independent objectives and strategies best suited to its
unique assets and business plans.

increase margins through the application of ATS best
practices. Sortimat’s integration is now well advanced and
program performance has substantially improved.
Integration of our most recent acquisition, ATW, is following
the same approach and will take several quarters as we
eliminate its RED programs. We’re pleased with the addition
of ATW, which brought attractive customer relationships,
operations in the U.S. and Germany and signiﬁcant experience
as a manufacturer of specialized automation and test systems.

The ATS Board has approved a plan to separate Photowatt
from ATS, either through a spin off of Photowatt shares to
ATS shareholders, or through a sale. We are actively
pursuing both options, the latter through discussions with a
number of interested parties.

Acquisitions are not a substitute for organic growth,
however our intention is to make transactions increasingly
signiﬁcant in size, scope and strategic importance.

With respect to a spin off, we are advancing a plan of
arrangement to enable us to structure a transaction. The
plan of arrangement contemplates that ATS shareholders
would own one new ATS common share and one new
Photowatt common share for each existing ATS share
held. Assuming an outright sale of Photowatt does not
occur ﬁrst, and that customary shareholder, legal and
regulatory approvals are secured, we anticipate
completing a spin off transaction in calendar 2011.

We are pleased to see signs of strengthening in some of
our key ASG markets. our growth opportunities and
proﬁtability are supported by measures to improve
program management, increase standardization, enhance
quality, consolidate purchasing power and develop
technologies. The full integration of ATW and Sortimat will
drive further improvements and growth potential.

GROwTH
Growth in our core business will be accomplished
organically and through acquisition.
The economic recovery gives us greater opportunity to
demonstrate the growing strength of our platform on
larger, more comprehensive customer engagements. In
the past year, we leveraged the capabilities and scale of
the Sortimat and ATW acquisitions to launch groups
focused on life sciences and transportation. organizing by
segments allows us to tailor our capability and efforts and
develop differentiating solutions for our customers. A
number of business processes were introduced to improve
funnel management, proposals and market analysis and
we hired additional sales people with relevant experience.
our offering in the areas of pre-production engineering,
and products and services are being enhanced and we are
better leveraging our geographic presence.
our ability to ﬁx businesses and effect operational and
margin improvements serves us well as we integrate
newly acquired operations. By our deﬁnition, Sortimat
had a signiﬁcant number of underperforming “RED”
programs that needed to be ﬁxed and an opportunity to
14

LOOkING AHEAd

At Photowatt, for at least the near term, our French
business will continue to be challenged. In ontario,
Photowatt’s prospects are better; however, its performance
will not offset the near-term difficulties in France.
We will remain focused on our value creation plan and expect
increasing performance as we continue to execute our plans.
Today at ASG, we are working with customers on enterprise
and outcome-based solutions, which I believe differentiates
us from our competitors. We are in a leadership position.
our strategy is to grow and expand our offering.
As we advance our strategy and standing in global
markets and add products and technologies to improve
our offering, we will never lose sight of the fact that it is
the capabilities, talent and passion of our people that
ultimately drive performance.
I am proud to serve as a member of the industry’s best
team and I thank my colleagues for their continued hard
work and dedication.

Anthony Caputo
Chief Executive officer
ATS Automation Annual Report 2011

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

For the Year Ended March 31, 2011

This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) for the year ended March 31, 2011 (ﬁscal 2011) is as of June 1, 2011 and
provides detailed information on the operating activities, performance and ﬁnancial position of ATS Automation Tooling
Systems Inc. (“ATS” or the “Company”) and should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited Consolidated Financial
Statements (“Consolidated Financial Statements”) for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 which have been prepared in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). Amounts are expressed in Canadian currency,
unless otherwise noted. Additional information is contained in the Company’s ﬁlings with Canadian securities regulators,
including its Annual Information Form, and can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

Notice to Reader: Non-GAAp Measures
Throughout this document the term “operating earnings” is used to denote earnings (loss) from operations. EBITDA is
also used and is deﬁned as earnings (loss) from operations excluding depreciation and amortization (which includes
amortization of intangible assets). The term “margin” refers to an amount as a percentage of revenue. The terms
“earnings (loss) from operations”, “operating earnings”, ”margin”, “operating loss”, “operating results”, “operating margin”,
“EBITDA”, “order Bookings” and “order Backlog” do not have any standardized meaning prescribed within GAAP and
therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. operating earnings and EBITDA are
some of the measures the Company uses to evaluate the performance of its segments. Management believes that ATS
shareholders and potential investors in ATS use non-GAAP ﬁnancial measures such as operating earnings and EBITDA in
making investment decisions and measuring operational results. A reconciliation of operating earnings and EBITDA to
total Company net income for the twelve month periods ending March 31, 2011 and 2010 is contained in this MD&A (See
“Reconciliation of EBITDA to GAAP Measures”). EBITDA should not be construed as a substitute for net income
determined in accordance with GAAP.
order Bookings represent new orders for the supply of automation systems that management believes are ﬁrm. order
Backlog is the estimated unearned portion of ASG revenue on customer contracts that are in process and have not been
completed at the speciﬁed date. A reconciliation of order Bookings and order Backlog to total Company revenue for the
twelve month periods ending March 31, 2011 and 2010 is contained in the MD&A (See “ASG order Backlog Continuity”).
References to cell ‘‘efficiency’’ means the percentage of incident energy that is converted into electrical energy in a solar
cell. Solar cells and modules are sold based on wattage output. “Silicon” refers to a variety of silicon feedstock, including
polysilicon, upgraded metallurgical silicon (“UMG-Si”) and polysilicon powders and ﬁnes.

15
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2011

Business Overview
ATS operates in two reportable business segments; Automation Systems Group (“ASG”) and Photowatt Technologies
(“Photowatt”).
•

ASG is an industry leader in planning, designing, building, commissioning and servicing automated manufacturing
and assembly systems – including automation products and test solutions – for a broadly diversiﬁed base of
customers. ATS’s reputation, knowledge, global presence and standard automation technology platforms differentiate
the Company and provide it with competitive advantages in the worldwide market for life sciences, computerelectronics, transportation, energy and consumer products automation.

•

Photowatt is a turnkey solar project developer and integrated manufacturer. Photowatt designs, manufactures and
sells solar modules, and installation kits, and provides solar power systems’ design and other value-added services,
principally in Western Europe and ontario. Photowatt has a well-established and ongoing research and
development program, alliances with energy industry leaders through the PV Alliance joint venture, and 30 years
of experience in processing silicon and making ingots, wafers, cells and modules at its Photowatt France division
(“PWF”). In fiscal 2010, Photowatt ontario (“PWo”) was established as part of the Photowatt group to serve the
ontario solar market. PWo is uniquely positioned, with ontario-based manufacturing, substantial automation and
project expertise and extensive global solar energy capabilities and experience to serve the ontario market. In
fiscal 2009, Photowatt included other solar divisions which are now closed, principally Photowatt U.S.A., a small
module assembly facility and sales operation closed during fiscal 2008 and Spheral Solar, a halted development
project that has been wound down.

Value Creation Strategy
To drive value creation, the Company implemented a three-phase strategic plan: (1) ﬁx the business (improve the existing
operations, gain operating control of the business and earn credibility); (2) separate the businesses (create standalone
ASG and Photowatt businesses, monetize non-core assets and strengthen the balance sheet); and (3) grow (both
organically and through acquisition).
In ﬁscal 2011, the Company’s focus was to advance the separation and growth phases of its strategic plan. In support of
separation, the Company made progress and now has a plan in place to effect the separation of ASG and Photowatt.
Proposed Spinoff of Photowatt
In ﬁscal 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a plan designed to implement the separation of Photowatt from
ATS. The Company initiated a dual track process to effect the separation; a spinoff of the Company’s combined solar
businesses or a sale of PWF. The Company is engaged with a number of interested parties regarding the potential sale of
PWF. If a favourable offer is made for PWF, the Company would give it full consideration. In the interim, the Company is
advancing its separation strategy via the spinoff of the Photowatt businesses as a standalone public company to the
existing shareholders of ATS. Management believes the spinoff will provide a number of beneﬁts to ATS shareholders and
both of its automation and solar businesses.
• Enhanced market understanding. ASG and Photowatt have different value creation models, risk proﬁles, and
capitalization requirements and they therefore attract different shareholders. Separating ASG and Photowatt will
beneﬁt shareholders by providing better visibility, enhanced market understanding and appropriate valuation.
Separation will allow both businesses to attract a dedicated investor base and gain improved potential access to
growth capital.
• Greater focus. The board of directors and management of each entity will have a singular focus on developing their
respective business models, balance sheets and strategies. This can enhance decision making and performance and
16
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2011

allow both the automation and solar businesses to pursue their short and long-term business objectives and
strategies best suited to their unique assets, expertise, and opportunities.
• Improved value creation for all stakeholders. Separation will allow each business to better serve its customer base
and pursue strategic opportunities that may not be available as part of a combined ATS. Employees could beneﬁt from
business-speciﬁc incentives which better align employee compensation with business performance and improve the
ability of each business to attract, retain and motivate employees.
Detailed plans to effect the spinoff of Photowatt to ATS shareholders as an independent, publicly traded company have
been developed. Actions required to implement the spinoff are underway. PWF has notiﬁed and received advice from its
employee works council regarding the spinoff transaction. The Company has initiated a process to select a CEo and board
of directors for the spinoff entity.
The Company currently plans to structure the proposed spinoff as a return of capital to be implemented via a plan of
arrangement. The plan of arrangement will be subject to court approval. The Company intends to structure the spinoff
transaction on a tax efficient basis for both the Company and shareholders. The transaction will be subject to approval by
ATS shareholders, the satisfaction of applicable regulatory requirements and certain other conditions.
Upon receipt of necessary approvals and satisfaction of certain conditions, the Company anticipates completing the
spinoff transaction before the end of calendar 2011. However, notwithstanding the receipt and satisfaction of such
approvals and conditions, the Company will retain sole and absolute discretion to determine whether it is appropriate to
implement the spinoff transaction and if so, the timing of its implementation.
The Company is considering the initial capitalization requirements of Photowatt and various alternatives to achieve this.
The Company has the resources to capitalize Photowatt without materially impacting ATS’s overall capital resources and
therefore its ability to pursue both organic and inorganic growth in its core business. However, the Company is actively
considering a number of options with respect to sources of capital for Photowatt.
The spinoff transaction as currently contemplated involves a number of steps and transactions, including obtaining
various Court and regulatory approvals. In addition, future ﬁnancial conditions, superior alternatives or other factors
may arise that make another course of action preferable to proceeding with part or all of the spinoff transaction. Any or
all of the elements of the spinoff transaction may not occur as currently expected or within the time frames that are
currently contemplated. See “Risk Factors” in the Company’s most recently ﬁled Annual Information Form.
Growth
To further the Company’s growth strategy in ﬁscal 2011, management completed two acquisitions; advanced the
Company’s approach to market which drove organic growth in ASG; developed division character by aligning divisions
into groups focused on industries served; sustained strong operating performance in its ASG business and maintained a
strong balance sheet.
Business Acquisitions
Sortimat Group
on June 1, 2010, ATS completed its acquisition of 100% of Sortimat Group (“Sortimat”). Sortimat is a manufacturer of
assembly systems for the life sciences market. Established in 1959, Sortimat has locations in Germany, Chicago and a
small, 60% owned subsidiary in India. Sortimat’s integration into the Company’s ASG segment is signiﬁcantly advanced.
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The Sortimat acquisition aligned with ATS’s strategy of expanding its position in the global automation market and
enhancing growth opportunities, particularly in strategic segments such as life sciences. The Company beneﬁts from
Sortimat’s signiﬁcant experience and products in advanced system development, manufacturing, handling, and feeder
technologies. This acquisition provided ATS with the scale required to further organize its marketing and divisions into a
group focused on life sciences with the objective to grow its exposure to this market segment and help customers
differentiate themselves from their competitors. To integrate Sortimat and effect margin improvements, the Company
deployed people to apply best practices, command and control, and program management and to advance approach to
market. The beneﬁts of these integration initiatives are now being realized. Improvements in program management have
led to the elimination of a signiﬁcant number of RED programs (programs which are not delivered to speciﬁcation, ontime, or on budget). Additional improvements in command and control, approach to market and supply chain have led
to improved operating margins from pre-acquisition levels. For additional information on the acquisition of Sortimat,
refer to Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
ATW
on January 5, 2011, the Company completed its acquisition of the majority of Assembly & Test Worldwide, Inc.’s U.S.-based
and German automation and test systems businesses (collectively “ATW”). ATW is a manufacturer of assembly and test
systems, with capability in the transportation, life sciences and energy segments.
The Company beneﬁts from ATW’s signiﬁcant experience, particularly in the transportation segment. The acquisition of
ATW provided ATS with the scale required to further organize its marketing and divisions into a group within the
Company’s ASG segment that is focused on transportation. The integration of ATW is in its early stages. To date,
management has initiated the consolidation of ATW’s Saginaw division into its Livonia and Dayton divisions. Additional
incremental margin improvements are targeted through the application of best practices, command and control,
program management and approach to market. Management expects the integration process to continue for a number of
quarters. For additional information on the acquisition of ATW, refer to Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fiscal 2012 Strategy Overview
In ﬁscal 2012, the Company intends to continue to execute its value creation plan by focusing on completing the
separation of ASG and Photowatt, and pursuing growth. Speciﬁc initiatives to support these strategies include:
•

Leadership: To support the proﬁtable growth of ATS, management will continue to focus on developing and improving
leadership across the Company. Strategies to attract and retain top performers and to develop management and
leadership capabilities will continue to be a focus and will be implemented through initiatives such as expatriate
employment arrangements, career development and succession planning.

•

Business processes: To ensure a stable and proﬁtable operating base, the Company will continue to employ and
improve its strong business processes in command and control, program management, and supply chain. The
Company will work towards eliminating RED programs acquired through the purchase of Sortimat and ATW. At PWF,
local management has initiated a restructuring plan with the goal to recapture competitiveness.

•

Approach to market: ASG will continue to target providing value based, complete automation program solutions for
customers based on differentiating technological solutions, value of customer outcomes achieved and global
capability. Photowatt intends to further develop its capability to serve downstream opportunities in its domestic
markets in France and ontario, including solar modules, systems, project development, maintenance, monitoring and
support and ﬁnancing.

•

Acquisitions: ASG intends to continue to seek growth through acquisition. The Company has an organizational
structure, business processes and the experience to successfully integrate companies into the group. Acquisition
opportunities are targeted and evaluated based on their ability to bring ATS market or technology leadership, scale
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and/or an opportunity brought on by the economic environment. Financially, targets are reviewed for their potential
to add accretive earnings to current operations.
•

Balance sheet strength: To maintain operational and ﬁnancial ﬂexibility, the Company will continue to manage its
ﬁnances to preserve its strong balance sheet through targeted working capital efficiencies, continued emphasis on
credit terms and appropriate funding strategies.

Automation Systems Group
ASG BuSInESS OvErvIEW
ASG is an industry-leading automation solutions provider to some of the world’s largest multinational companies. ASG
has expertise in custom automation, repeat automation, automation products and value-added services.
ASG categorizes its market into ﬁve industry groups: life sciences, computer-electronics, transportation, energy and
“other”, which is primarily comprised of consumer products. Contract values for individual automation systems are often
in excess of $1.0 million. Given the custom nature of customer projects, contract durations vary greatly, with typical
durations ranging from six to 12 months.
With broad and in-depth knowledge across multiple industries and technical ﬁelds, ASG is able to deliver “single source”
solutions to customers that can lower their production costs, accelerate delivery of their products, and improve quality
control. ASG’s relationships with customers sometimes begin with planning and feasibility studies. In situations where
the customer is seeking in-depth analysis before committing to a program, ASG provides objective analysis to verify the
economics and feasibility of different types of automation, sets objectives for factors such as line speed and yield,
assesses production processes for manufacturability and calculates the total cost of ownership.
When a contract for an automation solution is received, ASG often provides a number of services, including engineering
design, prototyping, process veriﬁcation, speciﬁcation writing, software development, automation simulation, equipment
design and build, third-party equipment qualiﬁcation, procurement and integration, automation system installation,
product line start up, documentation, customer training and after-installation support, maintenance and service.
Following the installation of custom automation, ASG may supply duplicate or “repeat” automation systems to customers
that leverage engineering design completed in the original customer program. For customers seeking complex
equipment replication, ASG’s Automation Products Group (“APG”) provides value engineering, supply chain management,
integration and manufacturing capabilities and other automation products and solutions. Typically, APG solutions are
either integrated into a larger system by the customer for resale, or delivered as a standalone machine to customers who
then resell it.
Competitive Strengths. Management believes ASG has the following competitive strengths:
Global presence, size and critical mass: ASG’s global presence and scale provides an advantage in serving multinational
customers because the markets in which the Company operates are largely populated by competitors with narrow
geographic and/or industrial market reach. ASG has manufacturing operations in Canada, the United States, China,
Malaysia, Singapore, India, Germany and Switzerland. Management believes that ASG’s scale and locations provide it with
competitive advantages in winning large, multinational customer programs that have become increasingly common.
Technical skills, capabilities and experience: Automation manufacturing is a knowledge-based business. ASG has designed,
manufactured, assembled and serviced thousands of automation systems worldwide since 1978 and has an extensive
knowledge base and accumulated design experience. Management believes ASG’s broad experience in many different
industry sectors, with many diverse technologies, along with its talented workforce and ability to provide custom
automation, repeat automation, APG solutions and value-added services, position the Company well to serve complex
multinational customer programs in a variety of industry sectors.
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Trusted customer relationships: ASG serves some of the world’s largest multinational companies. Most of ASG’s customers
are repeat customers and many have long-standing relationships with ATS, often spanning more than a decade. In ﬁscal
2011, management estimates that approximately 94% of ASG order Bookings were earned from repeat customers.
Recognized name: Management believes ATS is well known within the global automation industry due to its long history
of innovation and broad scope of operations. With the additions of Sortimat, which specializes in the life sciences market
and ATW, which specializes in the transportation market, management believes that it has further strengthened ATS’s
brand portfolio. Management believes that ATS’s brand names and global reputation tend to improve sales prospecting,
allowing the Company to be considered for a wide variety of customer programs.
Total solutions capabilities: Management believes the Company gains competitive advantages because ASG provides total
turn-key solutions in automation. This allows customers to single source their most complex projects to ATS rather than
rely on multiple equipment builders. In addition, ASG can provide customers with other value-added services including
project ﬁnancing, total cost of ownership studies and life cycle management.

ASG Business Strategy: Fiscal 2012
To support the Company’s strategy, ASG’s operational objectives in ﬁscal 2012 are to complete the integration of acquired
businesses, continue to deliver predictable, sustainable results and maintain a solid operating platform to support
growth. To achieve these objectives, management plans to continue focus on the following:
Strengthen ASG’s business processes: To build upon the organizational and operational strength of ASG, management
intends to continue strengthening leadership and management at all levels of the organization. The Company will
continue to roll-out best practices and business processes globally to improve program management and eliminate RED
programs, reduce costs, increase standardization and improve quality and timely delivery. As part of these efforts, the
Company will work to ﬁnalize the integration of ATW, including completing the consolidation of ATW’s Saginaw division
into divisions in Livonia and Dayton.
Supply chain management: To capitalize on ASG’s scale and consolidated purchasing power, management plans to
continue making improvements in supply chain management. Material cost reductions will be sought through the
Company’s consolidated and growing purchasing power. ASG’s strategy involves identifying critical and preferred
suppliers with a view to improving service, quality, payment and pricing terms. In addition, ASG will continue to make
use of its own internal supply chain by increasing internal subcontracting with a view to maximizing factory utilization,
reducing costs and increasing the use of standardized designs and standard products.
Approach to market: In ﬁscal 2012, ASG will seek to build on the momentum gained in the front-end of the business in
ﬁscal 2011 to support ongoing growth. ASG’s global sales and marketing group will continue to target the development
and growth of key accounts. By organizing the Company’s sales, marketing and divisions around customer industries,
management believes that ASG will be better able to serve its customers and help them differentiate themselves in their
own markets. By leveraging the Company’s diverse industry experience and geographic footprint, management believes
that the Company’s funnel and win rate will continue to increase and drive organic growth.
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Fiscal 2011 Results from Operations
ASG revenues
(In millions of dollars, except employees. Figures include intersegment revenue)

revenues by industry
Life Sciences
Computer-Electronics
Energy
Transportation
other
Total revenues
revenues by installation location
North America
Europe
Asia/other
Total revenues
Employees at year end

Q4 2011
$ 56.5
12.2
33.4
36.8
14.9
$ 153.8

Q4 2010
$ 43.6
12.2
17.0
11.6
7.2
$ 91.6

2011
$ 196.5
44.2
140.9
71.6
49.7
$ 502.9

2010
163.3
37.6
106.0
45.9
29.6
$ 382.4

$

$

$ 248.5
122.3
132.1
$ 502.9

$

79.6
39.9
34.3
$ 153.8

$

55.1
10.9
25.6
91.6

2,271

$

231.6
50.2
100.6
$ 382.4
1,578

Fourth Quarter revenues
ASG ﬁscal 2011 fourth quarter revenues were 68% higher than for the same period a year ago, primarily as a result of an
incremental $21.8 million and $16.7 million of revenues earned by Sortimat and ATW respectively and an increase in
order Backlog entering the fourth quarter compared to a year ago. These increases were partially offset by quarter-overquarter foreign exchange rate changes, which negatively impacted the translation of revenues derived at foreign
operations, due to the strengthening of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar and Euro.
By industrial market, life sciences revenues increased 30% year over year as a result of the incremental revenues earned
by Sortimat. Revenues from computer-electronics remained consistent while revenues from energy markets increased
96% reﬂecting higher order Bookings in the ﬁrst three quarters of the year. Transportation revenues increased 217% year
over year primarily as a result of incremental revenues earned by ATW. ”other” revenues increased by 107% due
primarily to higher consumer products revenues.
Full Year revenue
ASG revenue increased 32% or $120.5 million in ﬁscal 2011 compared to the prior year. This increase was the result of an
incremental $66.3 million and $16.7 million of revenues earned by Sortimat and ATW respectively, as well as higher
order Bookings in ASG’s base business throughout ﬁscal 2011 compared to ﬁscal 2010. Year-over-year foreign exchange
rate changes negatively impacted the translation of revenues derived at foreign operations, due to the strengthening of
the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar and Euro.
By industrial market, life sciences revenues increased 20% as a result of the incremental revenue earned by Sortimat.
Computer-electronics revenues increased 18% and energy revenues increased 33%. Transportation revenues increased
56% reﬂected by higher order Bookings in the ﬁrst three quarters and the incremental revenues earned by ATW.
Revenues from “other” industries increased 68% due primarily to higher consumer products revenue. on a regional
basis, annual revenues by customer installation location increased 7% in North America, 144% in Europe and 31% in Asia.
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ASG Operating results
(In millions of dollars. Figures include intersegment earnings from operations)

Earnings from operations
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA

Q4 2011
$ 19.4
2.5
$ 21.9

Q4 2010
$
19.5
1.6
$
21.1

$
$

2011
64.2
9.1
73.3

$
$

2010
56.2
6.8
63.0

Fourth Quarter
Fiscal 2011 fourth quarter earnings from operations were $19.4 million (operating margin of 13%) compared to operating
earnings of $19.5 million (operating margin of 21%) in the same quarter a year ago. Higher earnings from operations
reﬂected the increase in revenues in ﬁscal 2011 compared to ﬁscal 2010 offset by the inclusion of Sortimat and ATW,
which had lower operating margins than ASG’s other operations.
Earnings from operations in ﬁscal 2010 included an incremental beneﬁt of $6.1 million on the recognition of previously
unrecognized investment tax credits receivable. The recognition of these investment tax credits reﬂected a change in the
Company’s expectation to utilize the credits, due to the improved operating performance of ASG’s Canadian operations.
Excluding the impact of the investment tax credits, ﬁscal 2010 fourth quarter earnings from operations were $13.4 million
(operating margin of 15%). Fourth quarter ﬁscal 2010 earnings from operations included severance and restructuring
expenses of $1.3 million.
ASG depreciation and amortization expense was $2.5 million in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2011 compared to $1.6 million
in the same period a year ago. The increase in ﬁscal 2011 fourth quarter depreciation and amortization primarily related
to a $0.8 million increase in amortization on the identiﬁable intangible assets recorded on the acquisition of Sortimat.
Full Year
Fiscal 2011 operating earnings were $64.2 million (operating margin of 13%) compared to operating earnings of $56.2
million (operating margin of 15%) in ﬁscal 2010. The increase in earnings from operations was driven by higher revenues
in ﬁscal 2011, partially offset by lower proﬁtability in Sortimat and ATW. Fiscal 2010 earnings from operations included an
incremental beneﬁt of $8.6 million related to investment tax credits recognized in the second and fourth quarters of
ﬁscal 2010. Partially offsetting these credits in ﬁscal 2010 earnings from operations was $7.0 million of severance and
restructuring charges related to workforce reductions and the costs incurred related to the closure of two divisions.
ASG depreciation and amortization expense was $9.1 million in ﬁscal 2011 compared to $6.8 million in the same period a
year ago. The increase in ﬁscal 2011 depreciation and amortization primarily related to a $2.8 million increase in
amortization on the identiﬁable intangible assets recorded on the acquisition of Sortimat.
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ASG Order Bookings by Quarter
(In millions of dollars)

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Total order Bookings

Fiscal 2011
$
85
105
133
206
$
529

Fiscal 2010
$
96
71
92
105
$
364

Fiscal 2011 order Bookings were $529 million, 45% higher than the previous year, reﬂecting improved order Bookings in
transportation, life sciences, energy, and consumer products. Growth in order Bookings reﬂected the addition of
Sortimat and ATW and organic growth in ASG’s businesses. order Bookings during the ﬁrst eight weeks of ﬁscal 2011 were
approximately $100 million.
ASG Order Backlog Continuity
(In millions of dollars)

opening order Backlog
Revenue
order Bookings
order Backlog adjustments(i)
Period end order Backlog
(i)

Fiscal 2011
$ 209
(503)
529
61
$ 296

Fiscal 2010
$
255
(382)
364
(28)
$
209

Order Backlog adjustments include foreign exchange and cancellations and incremental Order Backlog of $62 million acquired
with Sortimat and ATW.

ASG Order Backlog by Industry
(In millions of dollars)

Life Sciences
Computer-electronics
Energy
Transportation
other
Total

March 31, 2011
$
86
12
49
133
16
$ 296

March 31, 2010
$
65
17
74
17
36
$
209

order Backlog of $296 million at March 31, 2011 was 42% higher than at March 31, 2010 reﬂecting incremental order
Backlog from Sortimat and ATW, combined with higher order Bookings throughout ﬁscal 2011 compared to ﬁscal 2010. By
industrial market, life sciences order Backlog increased by 32% year over year, primarily reﬂecting the addition of
Sortimat. Computer-electronics order Backlog decrease by 29% reﬂecting continued market weakness in this segment,
particularly in Asia. Energy order Backlog decreased by 34%, reﬂecting the completion of some programs during ﬁscal
2011. The $116 million year over year increase in transportation order Backlog reﬂected the addition of ATW and organic
growth in order Bookings due to improved market conditions, primarily in the automotive sector. The decrease in other
order Backlog primarily reﬂects lower consumer products backlog.
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ASG Outlook
The general economic environment, which negatively impacted the Company throughout ﬁscal 2010, is continuing to
recover. The Company has seen some improvement in certain customer markets; however, many customers remain
cautious in their approach to capital investment. Management expects that this will continue to cause volatility in order
Bookings. However, management expects ASG’s strong order Backlog to partially negate the impact of volatile order
Bookings on ASG revenues in the short term. As the global economy and some of the Company’s markets have shown
some signs of strengthening, activity in ASG’s front-end of the business has increased. Management believes that
increased capital spending will lag behind the general economic recovery as customers are hesitant to invest until their
markets stabilize and/or show signs of growth.
ASG continues to maintain proﬁtable operating margins, despite market conditions and competitive pressures.
Management expects that the implementation of its strategic initiatives to improve leadership, business processes and
supply chain management will continue to have a positive impact on ASG operations. However, the impact of these
initiatives are expected to also be affected by current market conditions and their impact on order Bookings and order
Backlog.
The integration of Sortimat is signiﬁcantly advanced. The new management team to lead ASG’s businesses in the life
sciences market is in place, with personnel drawn from both Sortimat and ATS. Efforts to reduce costs and integrate
Sortimat into ASG’s sales and marketing, program management, administration and command and control processes
have substantially progressed.
The integration of ATW has been initiated. The acquisition of ATW has provided ATS with the scale required to organize its
marketing and divisions into a group focused on transportation. ATS will target margin improvements through the
application of best practices in command and control, program management, performance management and approach to
market. Cost reductions are targeted through the consolidation of ATW’s Saginaw division into divisions in Livonia and
Dayton. The acquisition of ATW will increase ASG revenues; however, until ATW is fully integrated, ASG operating margins
are expected to be negatively impacted.
The Company’s strong ﬁnancial position provides ASG with a solid foundation to pursue organic growth and the ﬂexibility
to pursue its acquisition growth strategy. The Company is actively seeking to expand its position in the global automation
market organically and through acquisition. To further this objective, management will continue to review and pursue
attractive opportunities.

photowatt Technologies
PhOTOWATT BuSInESS OvErvIEW
Photowatt is a turn-key solar project developer and integrated manufacturer. Photowatt operates through two divisions:
PWF, an integrated manufacturer and solar project developer located near Lyon, France and PWo, an ontario-based
module manufacturer and solar project developer. Photowatt designs, manufactures and sells solar modules and
installation kits, and provides solar power system design and other value-added services, including project development,
maintenance, monitoring and support and ﬁnancing, principally in Western Europe and ontario. Photowatt also
manufactures ingots, wafers and solar cells, primarily for use in manufacturing its modules. Photowatt’s products are
used by businesses, institutions and homeowners to generate electric power. It sells its products under the Photowatt
and third-party brands to a network of independent solar power systems developers, distributors, and installers.
Photowatt has developed and sold photovoltaic products since 1979.
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Competitive Strengths. Management believes that Photowatt has the following competitive strengths:
Photowatt brand: PWF has successfully sold solar products in Europe for 30 years. To date, over three million modules
have been sold worldwide. Photowatt-branded products range from cells and modules to complete solar turn-key
systems in the residential, professional and solar farm segments. Photowatt also leverages its signiﬁcant history and
knowledge of the solar industry in providing services including project development, maintenance, monitoring, support
and project ﬁnancing.
Established market positions and relationships: Photowatt has established market positions in several growing and/or well
developed solar markets including France, Germany, Spain and Italy. As part of its restructuring plan launched in ﬁscal
2011, PWF will target to increase its focus on market segments where management believes it has an advantage as an
integrated French company with ‘Made in France’ products and solutions, speciﬁcally: residential/small professional
installers; engineering, procurement, construction services (“EPC”) and systems; and small solar farms. Management
expects speciﬁc emerging export markets will also be targeted based on PWF’s ability to leverage their systems business
in those markets. In ontario, Canada, Photowatt is combining its extensive global solar capabilities and experience,
ontario-based manufacturing presence and substantial automation and project experience to serve the ontario solar
energy market with domestic content compliant ‘Made in ontario’ products and solutions.
Integrated manufacturing capabilities: Photowatt’s PWF division is considered “integrated” in that it participates in each of
the ingot, wafer, cell and module design stages of the solar module production process. Management believes that being
an integrated manufacturer gives Photowatt several advantages relative to many of its competitors, including:
•

Reduced dependence on third-party suppliers for ingots, wafers and cells, which helps to ensure quality of
components and cost management;

•

Improved research and development capabilities to increase cell efficiency levels through improvements in various
phases of production;

•

Improved process development capabilities that allow the business to continually evaluate the impact of changes
throughout the production process; and

•

The ability to capture a greater portion of the proﬁts available by participating across a signiﬁcant portion of the solar
value chain.

Technical expertise and research capability: PWF is a 40% partner in the PV Alliance joint venture along with EDF Energies
Nouvelles Réparties (“EDF ENR”) and CEA Valorisation (“CEA”). The PV Alliance contemplates research to improve the
efficiency of solar cells. Management believes that the PV Alliance provides Photowatt with access to research and
potential technology improvements more quickly than developing such improvements on its own.

photowatt Business Strategy: Fiscal 2012
To prepare for separation, Photowatt management will implement its strategy to position the business as a focused, niche
solar company competing on a platform of: unique domestic market positioning; high-quality manufacturing, leadingedge technology and experienced and motivated management.
Strengthen Photowatt’s organizational effectiveness: To drive consistent performance and prepare Photowatt for
separation, Photowatt management intends to continue to strengthen leadership and management by ensuring
appropriate, committed leadership is in place to advance Photowatt’s strategies and including the transformation of PWF
through its restructuring plan.
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Reduce cost of operations: To restore proﬁtability and increase competitiveness of PWF in the solar industry, management
expects to implement the announced restructuring plan which will result in an approximate 35% reduction of PWF’s
overall workforce, the outsourcing of module production, as well as create the potential for: optimized production
capacity; further process improvements and investments in technologies to increase cell efficiency and reduce production
scrap rates; improvements in product development, quality, and lead time to market; reductions in supply chain costs;
and lower cash investment in working capital.
Approach to market: In order to grow the Photowatt business, in ﬁscal 2012, management will seek to increase sales
volumes by addressing targeted markets where Photowatt has advantages. PWF will seek to increase sales to
residential/small professional installers; EPC systems and small solar farms, increase sales of services, maintenance,
monitoring and other value-added solutions in order to improve order-ﬂow and increase revenues. In ontario, PWo will
continue to seek growth in its pipeline by developing relationships through which PWo can provide a number of solar
solutions including: Photowatt branded modules for developers, installers and other owner/operators; module
manufacturing services for third-party solar products; and direct development of solar projects with selected partners. In
ontario, management will continue work to optimize and scale production to meet market demand.

Fiscal 2011 Results from Operations
Photowatt revenues
(In millions of dollars, except employees)

Total Revenues
Employees at year end

Q4 2011
$ 49.3

Q4 2010
$ 48.6

2011
$ 216.2

2010
$ 199.9

699

716

Fourth Quarter revenues
Photowatt’s fourth quarter revenues of $49.3 million were 1% higher than in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2010 and
included $8.9 million of revenues generated from the sale of excess raw material inventory, which was sold for
approximately its net book value. Excluding the revenues from raw material sales, Photowatt ﬁscal 2011 fourth quarter
revenues were 17% lower than the corresponding period a year ago, reﬂecting lower volumes due to work stoppages and
slowdowns during the implementation of PWF’s social plan, and lower average selling prices.
Year over year revenues reﬂected a 21% decrease in total megawatts (“MWs”) sold to 10.0 MWs from 12.7 MWs in the
fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2010. Lower MWs sold resulted from lower production due to work stoppages and slowdowns,
which negatively impacted PWF’s ability to meet demand. These year-over-year decreases were partially offset by an
increase in revenues from system sales, which represented $31.1 million of total revenues compared to $25.1 million a
year ago and revenues generated at PWo. Systems include modules, combined with installation kits, solar power system
design and/or other value-added services. Foreign exchange rate changes due to strengthening of the Canadian dollar
relative to the Euro negatively impacted the translation of revenues in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2011 compared to the
same period a year ago.
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Full Year revenues
For the year ended March 31, 2011, revenues increased 8% compared to ﬁscal 2010. Higher year-over-year revenues
reﬂected $45.6 million of revenues generated primarily from the sale of raw materials inventory, which was sold for
approximately its net book value. Excluding the revenues from raw material sales, Photowatt ﬁscal 2011 revenues were
15% lower than the corresponding period a year ago, primarily reﬂecting lower average selling prices. Revenues also
reﬂected decreased system sales, which represented $109.2 million of total revenues compared to $119.1 million a year
ago. These year-over-year decreases were partially offset by an increase in MWs sold to 47.8 MWs in ﬁscal 2011 from 44.4
MWs in ﬁscal 2010 and revenues generated at PWo. Foreign exchange rate changes also negatively impacted Photowatt’s
ﬁscal 2011 revenues compared to ﬁscal 2010 on translation, reﬂecting the strengthening of the Canadian dollar relative to
the Euro.
Photowatt Operating results
(In millions of dollars)

Loss from operations
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA

Q4 2011
$ (31.3)
4.1
$ (27.2)

Q4 2010
$ (42.4)
4.1
$ (38.3)

2011
$ (50.3)
14.4
$ (35.9)

$
$

2010
(47.7)
16.4
(31.3)

Fourth Quarter Operating results
Photowatt ﬁscal 2011 fourth quarter loss from operations was $31.3 million, compared to a loss from operations of $42.4
million in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2010. Photowatt’s ﬁscal 2011 fourth quarter loss from operations reﬂected low
volumes due to difficult market conditions in the global solar industry, particularly in France where a government
imposed moratorium on new solar installations over three kilowatts caused a reduction in demand and average selling
prices during the fourth quarter. Low proﬁtability also reﬂected increased operating costs due to actions taken by PWF
employees, including work stoppages and slowdowns, in response to the restructuring plan which negatively impacted
production volumes and operating costs. In the quarter, a number of charges were incurred related to the restructuring
project implemented by management and poor market conditions. Speciﬁc items impacting the fourth quarter of ﬁscal
2011 included:
•

$9.1 million of non-cash ﬁxed asset impairment charges related to the decision to outsource production of PWF
modules;

•

$7.1 million of non-cash charges related to the write-down of inventory to its net realizable value, following decreases
to average selling prices in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2011 due to low enacted and expected reductions in feed-in
tariffs in the French and wider European solar markets;

•

$2.3 million of incremental restructuring charges related to the ﬁnalization of the restructuring plan at PWF, accrual
for contract related costs and related professional fees; and

•

Photowatt incurred incremental warranty costs, and bad debt write-offs related to customer claims, disputes and
customer bankruptcies, caused in part by the moratorium imposed by the French government on the solar industry
during the ﬁscal fourth quarter.

Fiscal 2010 fourth quarter operating loss reﬂected a $40.3 million charge to write-down inventory to its net realizable
value and a $1.6 million impairment charge in related silicon deposits.
Photowatt’s ﬁscal 2011 fourth quarter loss from operations also reﬂected higher operating losses of approximately $2.3
million at PWo, as it ramped up production on its 100MW module line in the last month of the ﬁscal period. The
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Company also began to incur costs related to preparations for the spinoff of Photowatt. operating costs from PWF’s joint
venture PV Alliance decreased to $0.5 million compared to $0.7 million a year ago.
Photowatt’s depreciation and amortization expense was $4.1 million in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2011 compared to $4.1
million in the fourth quarter a year ago.
Full Year Operating results
Photowatt loss from operations for ﬁscal 2011 was $50.3 million compared to an operating loss of $47.7 million in ﬁscal
2010. Photowatt’s ﬁscal 2011 loss reﬂects $9.1 million of non-cash ﬁxed asset impairment charges; $7.8 million of noncash inventory write-downs; $11.4 million of restructuring expenses; and higher losses from operations at PWo as activity
ramped up with the launch of PWo’s 100 MW module line. The ﬁscal 2010 loss included total expenses of $43.4 million
related to the write-down of inventory to its estimated net realizable value and a related $1.6 million asset impairment
expense against silicon deposits and a $4.7 million warranty charge. The year-over-year decline in operating results also
reﬂected lower average selling prices, a reduction in system sales, partially offset by higher MW’s sold and lower direct
manufacturing costs-per-watt.
Photowatt’s ﬁscal 2011 loss from operations included incremental costs related to the PV Alliance, where the Company’s
share of the loss from operations increased to $2.1 million compared to $1.3 million a year ago.
Photowatt’s depreciation and amortization expense was $14.4 million in ﬁscal 2011 compared to $16.4 million a year ago,
reﬂecting lower capital investment.

photowatt Outlook
Management believes that solar power is, and for the foreseeable future will be, affected by and largely dependent on the
existence of government incentives. Reductions in feed-in tariffs (“FIT”) for solar energy implemented in France, Italy and
Germany and anticipated further FIT reductions as well as the eventual 500 MW annual limit on solar installations in
France are expected to have a negative impact on revenues through lower potential demand and reduced average selling
prices per watt. Increased industry capacity and high inventory levels, particularly from low-cost manufacturers in Asia,
are expected to further negatively impact average selling prices per watt. In ontario, changes to the FIT program could
have an impact on PWo’s future revenues and proﬁtability and the value of its FIT contracts.
As PWF has been facing signiﬁcant competitive pressures which have negatively impacted average selling prices, it has
initiated a restructuring plan intended to: (i) focus on growing system sales in France and other emerging European solar
markets with attractive FIT regimes for systems sales; (ii) reduce manufacturing costs; and (iii) improve its global supply
chain, including subcontracting the assembly of solar modules to third parties. The restructuring project will result in
the reduction of approximately 166 full-time positions, partially offset by the creation of approximately 44 new positions.
In addition, approximately 50 PWF positions will be re-deployed to the 25 MW PV Alliance cell manufacturing line. PWF
will also discontinue 136 temporary positions. The total MW capacity available for sale by PWF is expected to remain
generally the same. Management expects that the restructuring project will be fully implemented in the second quarter
of ﬁscal 2012. While local management believes that the contemplated actions are appropriate and would allow PWF to
recover competitiveness, there is ultimately no guarantee that the restructuring project and potential future actions will
offset all competitive challenges. PWF continues to monitor market conditions and intends to take appropriate actions in
relation to such conditions.
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In ontario, PWo has secured conditional FIT approvals totalling approximately 64 MWs related to large scale renewable
energy applications made by a project development joint venture, ontario Solar PV Fields (“oSPV”) in which ATS holds a
50% interest. oSPV will utilize a range of solar solutions including modules manufactured by ATS in Cambridge, Canada.
oSPV is in the process of seeking necessary joint venture partner approvals and other requisite approvals. oSPV’s next
steps include efforts to arrange ﬁnancing and ultimate project ownership. PWo will supply modules to oSPV and
recognize revenues on 50% of those modules over the next two years. As oSPV generates revenue, through either
connection to the ontario power grid or through sale of the projects to third parties, PWo will recognize additional
revenues up to its proportionate 50% interest at that time.
Subsequent to the end of the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2011, PWo signed two customer agreements for the manufacture
and supply of customer branded modules. The ﬁrst agreement is for the supply of a minimum of 24 MWs over ﬁscal 2012
and 2013 and allows for the potential to increase volumes by an additional 24 MWs over the term of the agreement. The
second agreement is for the supply of a minimum of 160 MWs over 4 years, with shipments expected to begin in october
2011. The second agreement allows for the potential to increase volumes by an additional 160 MWs over the term of the
agreement. Under the ﬁrst agreement, PWo will recognize revenue on the full value of the modules being manufactured.
Under the second agreement, PWo will recognize revenue for module manufacturing services and module materials
other than solar cells, which will be provided by the customer. Production from the Company’s 100 MW module
manufacturing line is expected to ramp-up to full capacity to meet demand in ﬁscal 2012. PWo has also signed
agreements with developers who are in the process of securing conditional FIT approvals for a number of projects. PWo
will provide modules and other related services to these projects.
The Company is continuing to work on the separation of Photowatt via the proposed spinoff transaction. See “Value
Creation Strategy: Proposed Spinoff of Photowatt” for additional information. However, if an acceptable arrangement
were to be made for the sale of PWF prior to the potential spinoff of the combined entities to ATS shareholders, the
Company would retain PWo for a period of time and continue to operate and invest in PWo. The Company has
determined it does not meet all of the necessary criteria to classify Photowatt as “assets held for sale” and its results as
“discontinued operations” in its Consolidated Financial Statements as at March 31, 2011. As a result, these assets continue
to be classiﬁed as held and in use.
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Consolidated Financial Results
Summary of Consolidated Quarterly Data
(In thousands of dollars, except per share data)

Fiscal 2011
Revenue
Earnings (loss) from operations
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Earnings (loss) per share from
continuing operations, basic
Earnings (loss) per share from
continuing operations, diluted
Net income (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share, basic
Earnings (loss) per share, diluted
Fiscal 2010
Revenue
Earnings (loss) from operations
Net income from continuing operations
Earnings per share from
continuing operations, basic
Earnings per share from
continuing operations, diluted
Net income
Earnings per share, basic
Earnings per share, diluted

$
$
$

Q1
151,114
9,655
6,438

Q2
$ 162,046
$
5,481
$
3,251

Q3
$ 192,494
$ (8,543)
$ (11,948)

Q4
$ 198,945
$ (14,399)
$ (15,747)

$

0.07

$

0.04

$

(0.14)

$

(0.18)

$
$
$
$

0.07
6,438
0.07
0.07

$
$
$
$

0.04
3,251
0.04
0.04

$
$
$
$

(0.14)
(11,948)
(0.14)
(0.14)

$
$
$
$

(0.18)
(15,747)
(0.18)
(0.18)

$
$
$

Q1
152,701
502
325

$
$
$

Q2
148,169
9,305
6,012

$
$
$

Q3
138,133
4,756
3,742

$
$
$

Q4
138,774
(25,994)
2,084

$

0.00

$

0.07

$

0.04

$

0.03

$
$
$
$

0.00
325
0.00
0.00

$
$
$
$

0.07
6,012
0.07
0.07

$
$
$
$

0.04
3,742
0.04
0.04

$
$
$
$

0.03
2,084
0.03
0.03

Interim ﬁnancial results are not necessarily indicative of annual or longer-term results because many of the individual
markets served by the Company tend to be cyclical in nature. General economic trends, product lifecycles and product
changes may impact revenues and operating performance. ATS typically experiences some seasonality in its revenues
and operating earnings due to summer plant shutdowns by its customers and the annual summer shutdown at PWF. In
Photowatt, revenues may be lower in the ﬁscal fourth quarter when weather may impair the ability to install its products
in certain geographical regions.
Fourth Quarter Consolidated results
Consolidated fourth quarter ﬁscal 2011 revenues were $198.9 million, $60.2 million or 43% higher than the same period a
year earlier. This increase is primarily comprised of a 68% increase in ASG revenues, and a 1% increase in Photowatt
revenues. The fourth quarter increases in ASG revenues include revenues for Sortimat and ATW which were both
acquired during ﬁscal 2011.
In the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2011 there was a consolidated loss from operations of $14.4 million, compared to a loss
from operations of $26.0 million in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2010. This year over year reduction resulted primarily
from an $11.1 million decrease in the loss from operations at Photowatt and a $0.4 million decrease in corporate
expenses and intersegment eliminations.
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Selected Annual Information
(In millions of dollars, except per share amounts)

Revenues
Cost of revenues
Selling, general and administrative
Stock-based compensation
Gains on sale of assets
Earnings (loss) from operations
Interest expense
Provision for (recovery of ) income taxes
net income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
net income
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations, basic
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations, diluted
Earnings (loss) per share, basic
Earnings (loss) per share, diluted
Total assets
Total cash and short-term investments
Total bank debt and capital lease obligations

Fiscal 2011
$
704.6
602.5
107.0
2.9
–
$
(7.8)
2.2
8.0
$
(18.0)
–
$
(18.0)
(0.21)
(0.21)
(0.21)
(0.21)
$
799.2
$
124.3
$
56.8

Fiscal 2010
$
577.8
506.4
79.5
3.3
–
$
(11.4)
2.0
(25.6)
$
12.2
–
$
12.2
0.14
0.14
0.14
0.14
$
752.8
$
211.8
$
63.5

Fiscal 2009
$
855.1
707.9
83.9
2.4
(5.2)
$
66.1
0.4
8.2
$
57.5
(9.5)
$
48.0
0.73
0.72
0.61
0.60
$
834.5
$
142.4
$
35.8

Consolidated revenues
For ﬁscal 2011, consolidated revenues were $704.6 million, $126.8 million or 22% higher than a year earlier. Included in
the ﬁscal 2011 increase is $83.0 million of revenues from businesses acquired in the current ﬁscal year. Normalized for
revenues from the acquired businesses, there was a year-over-year increase in consolidated revenues of $43.8 million or
8%. This increase primarily reﬂected a 32% increase in ASG revenues on higher order Bookings and acquired businesses
during the ﬁscal year compared to the prior year and a 8% increase in Photowatt revenues primarily reﬂecting the sale of
excess inventories. Changes in effective foreign exchange rates negatively impacted consolidated revenues for ﬁscal 2011
compared to ﬁscal 2010, primarily on translation of revenues of foreign subsidiaries.
Cost of revenues
Cost of revenues increased on a consolidated basis by $96.1 million or 19% to $602.5 million. The change in gross margin
to 14% in ﬁscal 2011 from 12% in ﬁscal 2010 is due to decreased proﬁtability in the ASG segment on lower margins from
acquired businesses, partially offset by higher revenues and improved program management and cost reductions in
ASG’s other businesses. This was partially offset by higher proﬁtability in the Photowatt segment due primarily to higher
inventory write-offs in ﬁscal 2010.
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Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) Expenses
Consolidated SG&A expenses for ﬁscal 2011 increased 35% or $27.6 million to $107.1 million compared to the prior-year
period. Incremental SG&A spending at Sortimat, ATW and PWo contributed to the increase in consolidated SG&A for the
year. Consolidated SG&A also included severance and restructuring costs of $12.0 million, incurred primarily in
Photowatt, which increased from $7.3 million of consolidated severance and restructuring costs in the same period a year
ago, incurred primarily in ASG.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation cost decreased $0.4 million in ﬁscal 2011 compared to ﬁscal 2010. The decrease reﬂected
lower costs incurred for performance-based stock options and the revaluation of deferred stock units. This decrease was
partially offset by the increase in expenses incurred for traditional time-based options.
The expense associated with the Company’s performance-based stock options is recognized in income over the estimated
assumed vesting period at the time the stock options are granted. Upon the Company’s stock price trading at or above a
volume weighted average stock price performance threshold for a speciﬁed minimum number of trading days, the
options vest. When the performance-based options vest, the Company is required to recognize all previously
unrecognized expenses associated with the vested stock options in the period in which they vest. At March 31, 2011, the
following expenses had not been recognized related to performance stock options:
(In thousands of dollars)

Stock price
performance
threshold
$
8.41
8.50
9.49
10.41
10.50
11.08
12.41
13.08

number of
options
outstanding
166,667
889,333
41,667
266,667
889,333
218,667
266,666
218,667

Grant date
value per
option
1.88
1.41
1.66
2.11
1.41
2.77
2.11
2.77

remaining
vesting
period
0.3 years
1.7 years
3.7 years
1.5 years
2.5 years
0.9 years
2.4 years
1.8 years

Current
year
expense
$
92
254
12
124
217
151
103
123

remaining
expense to
recognize
$
27
414
44
177
535
135
242
224

Gains on sale of assets
During the ﬁrst quarter of ﬁscal 2009, the Company completed delivery to a third party of silicon that was not usable by
Photowatt. The silicon had a nominal carrying value and the Company recognized a gain of $2.0 million on the sale. As
well, the Company completed the sale of the redundant Spheral Solar building in Cambridge, ontario for net proceeds of
$16.0 million during the ﬁrst quarter of ﬁscal 2009. A net gain of $3.2 million was realized on the sale.
There were no such gains recorded in ﬁscal 2011 or 2010.
Earnings (Loss) from Operations
Fiscal 2011 consolidated loss from operations was $7.8 million, compared to a consolidated loss from operations of $11.4
million a year ago. Fiscal 2011 performance reﬂected: operating earnings of $64.2 million at ASG (operating earnings of
$56.2 a year ago); Photowatt operating loss of $50.3 million (operating loss of $47.7 million a year ago); and inter-segment
eliminations and corporate expenses of $21.7 million ($19.9 million for the same period a year ago).
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Interest Expense and Interest Income
Net interest expense increased for the year ended March 31, 2011 to $2.2 million compared to $2.0 million a year ago.
The increase in net interest expense was primarily due to the assumption of debt on business acquisitions and lower cash
balances.
Provision for (recovery of ) Income Taxes
In ﬁscal 2011, the Company’s effective income tax rate differed from the combined Canadian basic federal and provincial
income tax rate of 30.2% primarily as a result of losses incurred in Europe, the beneﬁt of which was not recognized.
In other jurisdictions the Company has reduced the valuation allowance against its future tax assets in an amount that
was considered more likely than not to be realized.
net Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations
Fiscal 2011 net loss from continuing operations was $18.0 million (loss of $0.21 per share), compared to net income from
continuing operations of $12.2 million ($0.14 per share) for the same period a year ago.
Loss from Discontinued Operations
During ﬁscal 2009, the Company sold the key operating assets and liabilities including equipment, current assets, trade
accounts payable and certain other assets and liabilities of its Precision Components Group (“PCG”) for cash proceeds of
$4.3 million and promissory notes with a face value of $2.7 million. This transaction was completed in the fourth quarter
of ﬁscal 2009. Accordingly, the results of operations of PCG have been segregated and presented separately as
discontinued operations.
There were no discontinued operations in ﬁscal 2011 or ﬁscal 2010.
net Income (Loss)
Net loss for ﬁscal 2011 was $18.0 million (loss of $0.21 per share) compared to a net income of $12.2 million ($0.14 per
share) for ﬁscal 2010.
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Reconciliation of EBITdA to GAAp measures
(In millions of dollars)

EBITDA
Automation Systems
Photowatt Technologies
Corporate and inter-segment
Total EBITDA
Less: Depreciation and amortization expense
Automation Systems
Photowatt Technologies
Corporate and inter-segment
Total depreciation and amortization expense
Earnings (loss) from operations
Automation Systems
Photowatt Technologies
Corporate and inter-segment
Total earnings (loss) from operations
Less: Interest expense
Provision (recovery) for income taxes
Loss from discontinued operations
net income (loss)

Fiscal 2011

Fiscal 2010

Fiscal 2009

$

73.3
(35.9)
(21.0)
16.4

$

63.0
(31.3)
(18.8)
12.9

$

9.1
14.4
0.7
24.2

$

6.8
16.4
1.1
24.3

$

64.2
(50.3)
(21.7)
(7.8)
2.2
8.0

$

56.2
(47.7)
(19.9)
(11.4)
2.0
(25.6)

$

(18.0)

$

12.2

$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$

$

$

$
$

$

$

$
$

67.2
40.2
(16.4)
91.0
8.5
15.7
0.7
24.9
58.7
24.5
(17.1)
66.1
0.4
8.2
9.5
48.0

Summary of Investments
(In millions of dollars)

Investments — increase (decrease)
Non-cash operating working capital
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment acquired via capital lease
Acquisition of intangible assets
other long-term investments
Business acquisitions
Proceeds from disposal of assets
Proceeds from disposal of portfolio investments
Total net investments

Fiscal 2011

Fiscal 2010

$

$

$

(9.7)
29.7
2.4
2.3
3.5
67.6
(2.2)
(2.3)
91.3

$

(7.5)
16.7
3.9
1.3
8.9
–
(1.7)
–
21.6

In ﬁscal 2011, the Company’s investment in non-cash operating working capital decreased $9.7 million or 11%. Accounts
receivable increased 26% or $22.8 million from March 31, 2010, driven by the increase in consolidated ﬁscal 2011 fourth
quarter revenues and business acquisitions. Net contracts in progress increased 114% or $14.5 million from March 31, 2010 due
to business acquisitions and timing of closing programs compared to ﬁscal 2010. Inventories increased 19% or $15.3 million
from March 31, 2010 primarily due to increased inventories at Photowatt. Deposits and prepaid assets increased 21% or $5.8
million from March 31, 2010 primarily due to an increase in cash collateralized to secure letters of credit, partially offset by a
decrease in the fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities increased 54% or
$64.6 million from March 31, 2010 primarily due to business acquisitions and an increase in reserves for restructuring.
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Property, plant and equipment expenditures totalled $32.1 million in ﬁscal 2011, of which $2.4 million were acquired
under capital leases. Expenditures at Photowatt totalling $22.9 million were primarily used for production equipment
and facility improvements. Included in Photowatt’s capital expenditures was $2.9 million related to the Company’s
proportionate share of the PV Alliance for production equipment and facility improvements. Total ASG and Corporate
capital expenditures were $9.2 million in ﬁscal 2011, primarily related to the purchase of a new facility in the U.S.A.
Acquisition of intangible assets of $2.3 million in ﬁscal 2011 primarily relates to software acquisitions in ASG and the
Company’s proportion of technology licenses acquired by PV Alliance.
The Company’s ﬁscal 2011 expenditures in other long-term investments of $3.5 million primarily represented silicon
deposits made with suppliers for the future delivery of silicon for PWF. The deposits represented advance payments
which will be applied against the price of future product received.
The Company’s ﬁscal 2011 expenditures in business acquisitions of $67.6 million are represented by the independent
acquisitions of Sortimat and ATW of $50.6 million and $17.0 million respectively.
The proceeds from disposal of assets of $2.2 million in ﬁscal 2011 primarily related to the sale of a facility.
During ﬁscal 2011, the Company sold a portfolio investment for proceeds of $2.3 million.
The Company performs impairment tests on its goodwill balances on an annual basis or as warranted by events or
circumstances. The Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment assessment in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2011
and has determined there is no impairment of goodwill as of March 31, 2011 (2010 – $nil).
All of the Company’s investments involve risks and require that the Company make judgments and estimates regarding
the likelihood of recovery of the respective costs. In the event management determines that any of the Company’s
investments have become permanently impaired or recovery is no longer reasonably assured, the value of the
investment would be written down to its estimated net realizable value as a charge against earnings. Due to the
magnitude of certain investments, such write downs could be material.

Liquidity, Cash Flow and Financial Resources
Cash, Leverage and Cash Flow from Operations
(In millions of dollars, except ratios)

Year-end cash and cash equivalents
Year-end debt-to-equity ratio
Cash ﬂow provided by operating activities

Fiscal 2011
$
124.3
0.1:1
$
40.7

Fiscal 2010
$
211.8
0.1:1
$
56.6

Fiscal 2009
$
142.4
0.1:1
$
73.6

At March 31, 2011, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $124.3 million compared to $211.8 million a year ago. In
ﬁscal 2011, cash provided by operations was $40.7 million compared to cash provided by operations of $56.6 million in
ﬁscal 2010. The Company’s total debt to equity ratio (excluding Accumulated other Comprehensive Income) at March 31,
2011 was 0.1:1. At March 31, 2011 the Company had $76.3 million of unutilized credit available under existing operating and
long-term credit facilities and $29.6 million available under letter of credit facilities.
The Company’s primary credit facility (the “Credit Agreement”) provides total credit facilities of up to $85.0 million
comprised of an operating credit facility of $65.0 million and a letter of credit facility of up to $20.0 million for certain
purposes. The operating credit facility is subject to restrictions regarding the extent to which the outstanding funds
advanced under the facility can be used to fund certain subsidiaries of the Company. The Credit Agreement, which is
secured by the assets, including real estate, of the Company’s North American legal entities and a pledge of shares and
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guarantees from certain of the Company’s legal entities, is repayable in full on April 30, 2011. Subsequent to the year
ended March 31, 2011, the Company amended the primary credit facility (the “Amended Credit Agreement”) to provide
total credit facilities of up to $95.0 million, comprised of an operating credit facility of $65.0 million and a letter of credit
facility of up to $30.0 million for certain purposes. The Amended Credit Agreement is repayable in full on April 30, 2012.
The operating credit facility is available in Canadian dollars by way of prime rate advances, letters of credit for certain
purposes and/or bankers’ acceptances and in U.S. dollars by way of base rate advances and/or LIBoR advances. The
interest rates applicable to the operating credit facility are determined based on certain ﬁnancial ratios. For prime rate
advances and base rate advances, the interest rate is equal to the bank’s prime rate or the bank’s U.S. dollar base rate in
Canada, respectively, plus 1.25% to 2.25%. For bankers’ acceptances and LIBoR advances, the interest rate is equal to the
bankers’ acceptance fee or the LIBoR, respectively, plus 2.25% to 3.25%. Under the Amended Credit Agreement, for prime
rate advances and base rate advances, the interest rate is equal to the bank’s prime rate or the bank’s U.S. dollar base
rate in Canada, respectively, plus 0.90% to 1.90% until october 1, 2011 and 0.90% to 2.40% subsequently. For bankers’
acceptances and LIBoR advances, the interest rate is equal to the bankers’ acceptance fee or the LIBoR, respectively, plus
1.90% to 2.90% until october 31, 2011 and 1.90% to 3.40% subsequently.
Under the Credit Agreement, the Company pays a fee for usage of the $20.0 million letter of credit facility, which ranges
from 2.25% to 3.25%. Under the Amended Credit Agreement, the Company pays a fee for usage of the $30.0 million letter
of credit facility which ranges from 0.80% to 1.90%.
Under the Credit Agreement, the Company pays a standby fee on the unadvanced portions of the amounts available for
advance or draw-down under the credit facilities at rates ranging from 0.675% to 0.975% per annum, as determined
based on certain ﬁnancial ratios. Under the Amended Credit Agreement, the Company pays a standby fee on the
unadvanced portions of the amounts available for advance or draw-down under the credit facilities at rates ranging from
0.475% to 0.725% until october 1, 2011, and 0.475% to 0.850% subsequently.
The Credit Agreement is subject to debt leverage tests, a current ratio test and a cumulative EBITDA test. Under the
terms of the Credit Agreement, the Company is restricted from encumbering any assets with certain permitted
exceptions. The Credit Agreement also partially restricts the Company from repurchasing its common shares, paying
dividends and from acquiring and disposing of certain assets. The Company is in compliance with these covenants and
restrictions. The Amended Credit Agreement is subject to a debt leverage test, a current ratio test and an interest
coverage test.
The Company has issued letters of credit in the amount of $5.6 million under the primary credit facility (March 31, 2010 $2.0 million).
The Company’s subsidiary, Photowatt International S.A.S., has credit facilities including capital lease obligations of $49.5
million (36.0 million Euro). The total amount outstanding on these facilities is $40.7 million (March 31, 2010 - $55.9
million), of which $0.5 million is classiﬁed as bank indebtedness (March 31, 2010 - $26.0 million), $19.3 million is
classiﬁed as long-term debt (March 31, 2010 - $7.7 million) and $20.8 million is classiﬁed as obligations under capital
lease (March 31, 2010 - $22.2 million). The interest rates applicable to the credit facilities range from Euribor plus 0.5% to
Euribor plus 3.35% and 4.9% per annum. Certain of the credit facilities are secured by certain assets of Photowatt
International S.A.S. and a commitment to restrict payments to the Company and are subject to debt leverage tests. The
credit facilities which are classiﬁed as current bank indebtedness are subject to either annual renewal or 60 day
notiﬁcation.
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During the year ended March 31, 2011, Photowatt International S.A.S. and its lenders established a new term credit facility
of $19.8 million (15.0 million Euro). The credit facility, which is classiﬁed as long-term debt, was used to repay preexisting credit facilities of $6.1 million (4.4 million Euro) and to replace a credit facility classiﬁed as bank indebtedness in
the amount of $11.1 million (8.0 million Euro). The credit facility bears interest at a rate of Euribor plus 3.35%, requires
annual payments of $5.0 million (3.8 million Euro) and expires on october 15, 2014.
At March 31, 2011, Photowatt International S.A.S. was not in compliance with the debt leverage tests on certain of its long
term credit facilities. Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2011, the lenders have waived their right to demand
repayment of the outstanding principal balances of $19.3 million (14.1 million Euro).
During the year ended March 31, 2011, Photowatt International S.A.S. established a credit facility of $26.1 million (19.0
million Euro). The credit facility which is classiﬁed as bank indebtedness bears interest at a rate of Euribor minus 1.09%
and is secured by certain accounts receivables. As of March 31, 2011, Photowatt International S.A.S. had met requirements
to access $0.4 million (0.3 million Euro) of the credit facility.
The Company has additional credit facility available of $18.4 million (11.3 million Euro, 41.2 million Indian Rupee and 2.0
million Swiss francs). The total amount outstanding on these facilities is $7.9 million (March 31, 2010 - $nil), of which
$4.3 million is classiﬁed as bank indebtedness and $3.6 million is classiﬁed as long-term debt. The interest rates
applicable to the credit facilities range from 0.0% to 8.5% per annum. A portion of the long-term debt is secured by
certain assets of the Company and the 2.0 million Swiss Francs credit facility is secured by a letter of credit under the
primary credit facility.
Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements describe the Company’s long-term debt and repayment obligations at
March 31, 2011.
Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements describe the additional credit facilities held by PV Alliance.
The Company expects that continued cash ﬂows from operations, together with cash and cash equivalents on hand and
credit available under operating and long-term credit facilities, will be more than sufficient to fund its requirements for
investments in working capital and capital assets, and to fund strategic investment plans including potential acquisitions.
Signiﬁcant acquisitions could result in additional debt or equity ﬁnancing requirements. In order to ﬁnance development
activities at PWo, the Company intends to arrange for bridge ﬁnancing and third-party project ownership.
Contractual Obligations
(In thousands of dollars)

Less than 1 year
1 – 3 years
4 – 5 years
Thereafter

operating
Leases
$
5,830
9,812
6,225
2,524
$
24,391

Purchase
obligations
$ 135,345
77,252
65,499
76,131
$ 354,227

The Company’s off-balance sheet arrangements consist of purchase obligations, various operating lease ﬁnancing
arrangements related primarily to facilities and equipment, and derivative ﬁnancial instruments which have been
entered into in the normal course of business.
The Company’s off-balance sheet purchase obligations consist of silicon supply commitments and purchase commitments
for other materials. The major silicon supply commitments are take-or-pay arrangements with ﬁxed price commitments.
Management believes that these contracts are priced at values that are consistent with current market prices.
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There are no other signiﬁcant off-balance sheet arrangements that management believes will have a material effect on
the results of operations or liquidity.
In accordance with industry practice, the Company is liable to customers for obligations relating to contract completion
and timely delivery. In the normal conduct of its operations, the Company may provide bank guarantees as security for
advances received from customers pending delivery and contract performance. In addition, the Company may provide
bank guarantees as security on equipment under lease and on order. As of March 31, 2011, the total value of outstanding
bank guarantees to customers and suppliers available under bank guarantee facilities was approximately $40.2 million
(2010 – $11.9 million), reﬂecting additional business in the European automation market.
The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions in currencies other than its functional
currency of the Canadian dollar. The Company’s Canadian operations generate signiﬁcant revenues in major foreign
currencies, primarily U.S. dollars, which exceed the natural hedge provided by purchases of goods and services in those
currencies. In order to manage a portion of this net foreign currency exposure, the Company has entered into forward
foreign exchange contracts. The timing and amount of these forward foreign exchange contracts are estimated based on
existing customer contracts on hand or anticipated, anticipated shipment volumes, current conditions in the Company’s
markets and the Company’s past experience. Certain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries will also enter into forward
foreign exchange contracts to hedge identiﬁed balance sheet, revenue and purchase exposures. In addition, from time to
time, the Company enters forward foreign exchange contracts to manage the foreign exchange risk arising from certain
inter-company loans and net investments in certain self-sustaining subsidiaries.
The Company uses hedging as a risk management tool, not to speculate.
The Company is exposed to credit risk on derivative ﬁnancial instruments arising from the potential for counterparties to
default on their contractual obligations to the Company. The Company minimizes this risk by limiting counterparties to
major ﬁnancial institutions and monitoring their creditworthiness. The Company’s credit exposure to forward foreign
exchange contracts is the current replacement value of contracts that are in a gain position.
For further information related to the Company’s use of derivative ﬁnancial instruments refer to Note 4 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
As of June 1, 2011, the Company had 87,289,655 common shares and there were 7,377,916 stock options to acquire common
shares of the Company outstanding.
Impact of Foreign Exchange
Strengthening in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar and the Euro had a negative impact on the
Company’s revenue and operating earnings in ﬁscal 2011. ATS follows a transaction hedging program to help mitigate the
impact of short-term foreign currency movements, primarily in its Canadian operations which often transact business in
U.S. dollars. This hedging activity consists primarily of forward foreign exchange contracts for the sale of U.S. dollars.
Purchasing third-party goods and services in U.S. dollars by Canadian operations also acts as a partial offset to U.S. dollar
exposure. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for details of the ﬁnancial instruments outstanding at
March 31, 2011.

Currency
U.S. dollar
Euro
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Year-end actual exchange rates
in CDn$
March 31, 2011 March 31, 2010
% change
0.9696
1.0158
-4.5%
1.3743
1.3720
0.2 %

Period average exchange rates
in CDn$
Fiscal 2011
Fiscal 2010
% change
1.0173
1.0911
-6.8%
1.3427
1.5408
-12.9%
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Critical Accounting Estimates
Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements describes the basis of accounting and the Company’s signiﬁcant
accounting policies.
revenue recognition and Contracts in Progress for ASG
The nature of ASG contracts requires the use of estimates to quote new business and most automation systems are
typically sold on a ﬁxed-price basis. As described in Note 1(e) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, revenue on
automation systems and other long-term contracts is recognized under the percentage-of-completion method of
accounting, which requires management to exercise signiﬁcant judgment in estimating the future costs of completing
individual contracts over the life of the contract. If the actual costs incurred by the Company to complete a contract are
signiﬁcantly higher than estimated, the Company’s earnings may be negatively affected. The use of estimates involves
risks, since the work to be performed requires varying degrees of technical uncertainty, including possible development
work to meet the customer’s speciﬁcation, the extent of which is sometimes not determinable until after the project has
been awarded. In the event the Company is unable to meet the deﬁned performance speciﬁcation for a contracted
automation system, it may need to redesign and rebuild all or a portion of the system at its expense without an increase
in the selling price. Certain contracts may have provisions that reduce the selling price if the Company fails to deliver or
complete the contract by speciﬁed dates. These provisions may expose the Company to liabilities or adversely affect the
Company’s results of operations or ﬁnancial position.
ASG’s contracts may be terminated by customers in the event of a default by the Company or for the convenience of the
customer. In the event of a termination for convenience, the Company typically negotiates a settlement reﬂective of the
progress achieved on the contract and/or the costs incurred to the termination date. If a contract is cancelled, order
Backlog is reduced and production utilization may be negatively impacted.
Complete provision, which can be signiﬁcant, is made for losses on such contracts when such losses ﬁrst become known.
Revisions in estimates of costs and proﬁts on contracts, which can also be signiﬁcant, are recorded in the accounting
period in which the relevant facts impacting the estimates become known.
A portion of ASG revenue is recognized when earned, which is generally at the time of shipment and transfer of title to
the customer, providing collection is reasonably assured.
revenue recognition for Photowatt
As described in Note 1(e) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Photowatt’s revenue is generally recognized when
earned, which is normally at the time of shipment and transfer of title to the customer, provided collection is reasonably
assured. While the Company may enter into long-term sales contracts, many sales are made on the basis of individual
orders, as is customary in the industry. This can increase revenue volatility because shipment volumes may vary
depending on customer demand.
valuation of Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill
As described in Note 1(g) through Note 1(i) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, long-lived assets such as property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Judgment is involved in determining expected future cash ﬂows
that will be generated by the long-lived assets. During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company recorded impairment
charges of $9.1 million related to certain module production equipment in the Company’s PWF division. The carrying
value of the equipment was determined to be not recoverable following the decision to implement a restructuring plan
at PWF, which includes the outsourcing of module production.
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In connection with business acquisitions completed by the Company, management identiﬁes and estimates the fair value
of the net assets acquired, including certain identiﬁable intangible assets other than goodwill and liabilities assumed in
the acquisitions. Any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired is assigned to
goodwill. As described in Note 1(h) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, goodwill is assessed for impairment on an
annual basis. During the year ended March 31, 2011, there was no impairment of goodwill ($nil in ﬁscal 2010).
valuation of Future Income Tax Assets and Investment Tax Credits
As described in Note 1(k) and Note 1(l) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company’s future income tax asset
balance represents temporary differences between ﬁnancial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities including
research and development costs and incentives, property, plant and equipment, asset impairment charges not yet
deductible and operating loss carry-forwards, net of valuation allowances. The Company considers both positive evidence
and negative evidence to determine whether, based upon the weight of that evidence, a valuation allowance is required.
Judgment is required in considering the relative impact of negative and positive evidence. The Company records a
valuation allowance to reduce future income tax assets and investment tax credits to the amount that is more likely than
not to be realized. Should the Company determine that it is more likely than not that it will not be able to realize all or
part of its future income tax assets in future ﬁscal periods, the valuation allowance would be increased, resulting in a
decrease to net income in the reporting periods in which management makes such determinations.
Investment tax credits and government assistance are accounted for as a reduction in the cost of the related asset or
expense when there is reasonable assurance that such credits or assistance will be realized.
During ﬁscal 2010, $8.6 million of provision against the Company’s investment tax credits was reversed.

Accounting Changes
Accrued Pension Obligation
In the ﬁrst quarter of ﬁscal 2011, it was determined that a pension obligation that was assumed in 1998 should have been
previously recognized. The arrangement has been recorded with an adjustment to decrease retained earnings as of April
1, 2009 by $2 million (net of tax of $nil) with a corresponding increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. This
adjustment had no material impact on reported earnings, cash ﬂows or earnings per share in prior periods reported.

International Financial Reporting Standards
The CICA’s Accounting Standards Board has announced that Canadian publicly-accountable enterprises will adopt
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”)
effective January 1, 2011. Although IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to Canadian GAAP, differences in accounting
policies and additional required disclosures will need to be addressed. This change is effective for the Company for
interim and annual ﬁnancial statements beginning April 1, 2011. The ﬁrst ﬁnancial statements to be presented on an IFRS
basis will be for the quarter ended June 26, 2011 (ﬁrst quarter of ﬁscal 2012). At that time, comparative data will be
presented on an IFRS basis, including an opening balance sheet as at April 1, 2010.
The Company commenced its IFRS conversion project in ﬁscal 2009. The project consists of four phases: diagnostic;
design and planning; solution development; and implementation. The diagnostic phase was completed in ﬁscal 2009
with the assistance of external advisors. This work involved a high-level review of the major differences between current
Canadian GAAP and IFRS and a preliminary assessment of the impact of those differences on the Company’s accounting
and ﬁnancial reporting, systems and other business processes.
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The Company’s IFRS conversion project is progressing according to plan. The Company is currently in the implementation
phase and has completed a detailed review of all relevant IFRS standards and the identiﬁcation of information gaps and
necessary changes in reporting, internal controls over ﬁnancial reporting, processes and systems.
The Company is continuing to monitor standards to be issued by the IASB. Pending completion of some of these projects
by the IASB, and until the Company’s accounting policy choices are ﬁnalized and approved, the Company will be unable
to quantify the impact of IFRS on its Consolidated Financial Statements.
The Company has assessed the effect of adoption of IFRS and the resulting changes in accounting policies based on IFRS
standards expected to be in effect at the transition date. Signiﬁcant accounting policy changes have been identiﬁed
below. The list is based on signiﬁcant accounting policies and on work completed to date and should not be considered
an exhaustive list of all IFRS accounting policies.
Property, Plant and Equipment
IFRS has more speciﬁc guidance than Canadian GAAP on the capitalization and componentization of assets, requiring that
signiﬁcant asset components with different useful lives than the main asset be recorded and depreciated separately. As a
result of this difference, the Company has determined that certain assets should have separately capitalized components
under IFRS. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this change in accounting policies under IFRS and the
transitional impact is not known at this time.
revenue recognition
IFRS requires revenue on projects which meet the deﬁnition of a construction contract to be measured on a Percentage
of Completion basis. The Company has identiﬁed certain contracts which meet the deﬁnition of construction contracts for
which revenue is currently recognized upon shipment and transfer of title. The transitional impact of this change is
expected to result in an increase in net equity as of April 1, 2010.
Share-based payments
Under IFRS, when share options or other equity instruments vest in installments over the vesting period, referred to as
“graded vesting”, each installment should be treated as a separate share option grant. Canadian GAAP permits the
recognition of compensation expense on a straight line basis over the vesting period. In addition, under Canadian GAAP,
forfeitures of share options are recognized as they occur, whereas, under IFRS, the Company is required to estimate the
number of awards expected to vest, and revise that estimate if subsequent information indicates that actual forfeitures
are likely to differ from the estimates. The transitional impact of this change is expected to result in an increase in
contributed surplus and a decrease in retained earnings as of April 1, 2010.
Impairment of long-lived assets
Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment under Canadian GAAP is based on a two-step approach when
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. IFRS requires a one-step impairment test for
identifying and measuring impairment. This test requires a comparison of the asset’s carrying value to the higher of its
value in use or fair value less costs to sell. In addition, IFRS requires, under certain circumstances, the reversal of
previous impairments which is not allowed under current Canadian GAAP.
IFRS tests asset groups for impairment at the independent cash generating unit (“CGU”) level based on the generation of
cash inﬂows. IFRS has guidelines surrounding the highest asset group that goodwill can be allocated for impairment
testing purposes.
on transition, the Company does not expect any changes to the results of its impairment tests previously performed
under Canadian GAAP.
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Income taxes
Changes in accounting policies under IFRS may impact the corresponding deferred tax asset or deferred tax liability
account. Under IFRS, the income tax consequences of a transaction recorded in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity in previous periods must be recorded in other comprehensive income or equity (i.e. backward tracing).
Canadian GAAP requires all subsequent changes in deferred income taxes to be recorded through earnings. The Company
is currently evaluating the impact of changes in accounting policies under IFRS and the corresponding income tax
consequences are not known at this time.
First time adoption of IFrS
IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” provides guidance for an entity’s initial year
of IFRS adoption. IFRS requires retrospective application of all IFRS standards at the reporting date, with the exception of
optional exemptions and certain mandatory exemptions. The most signiﬁcant IFRS 1 optional exemptions that the
Company expects to apply in its opening IFRS Balance Sheet are summarized below.
Cumulative Translation Differences
Under IFRS 1, the Company will elect not to retrospectively calculate its cumulative translation balances, and all of these
balances will be reset to zero on the transition date. The transitional impact of this adjustment will increase accumulated
other comprehensive income and decrease retained earnings as of April 1, 2010.
Business Combinations
The company expects to apply IFRS 3, “Business combinations” prospectively from the date of transition to IFRS to
business combinations which occur after the date of transition. IFRS 3 establishes standards for the measurement of a
business combination and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Most
signiﬁcantly, IFRS 3 requires directly attributable transaction costs to be expensed rather than included in the acquisition
purchase price; the measurement of contingent consideration at fair value on the acquisition date, with subsequent
changes in the fair value recorded through the income statements; and that upon gaining control in a step acquisition,
an entity re-measures its existing ownership interest to fair value through the income statement. The transitional impact
of this change is expected to result in a decrease to the carrying value of current assets and a decrease in retained
earnings as of April 1, 2010. Future business combinations completed after April 1, 2010, are expected to have a greater
impact on net income.
Fair Value as Deemed Costs
The Company expects to elect to report certain items of Property, Plant and Equipment and/or Investment Property
assets in its opening balance sheet at deemed costs instead of actual costs that would have been determined under IFRS
standards. The deemed costs of an item may be either its fair value at the date of transition to IFRS or an amount
determined by a previous revaluation under Canadian GAAP. This exemption can be applied on an asset-by-asset basis
and the Company is currently evaluating individual assets for which the election may apply. The transitional impact on
the Company’s balance sheet as of April 1, 2010 is not currently known as the assessment is currently in progress.

Controls and procedures
The Chief Executive officer (“CEo”) and the Chief Financial officer (“CFo”) are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over ﬁnancial reporting for the Company.
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Disclosure controls and procedures
Except for the limitation in scope of the design of disclosure controls and procedures as noted below, an evaluation of
the design of and operating effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures was conducted as of
March 31, 2011 under the supervision of the CEo and CFo as required by CSA Multilateral Instrument 52-109 Certiﬁcation of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings. The evaluation included documentation, review,
enquiries and other procedures considered appropriate in the circumstances. Based on that evaluation, the CEo and the
CFo have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance
that information relating to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries that is required to be disclosed in reports ﬁled
under provincial and territorial securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported to senior
management, including the CEo and the CFo, so that appropriate decisions can be made by them regarding required
disclosure within the time periods speciﬁed in the provincial and territorial securities legislation.
Internal control over ﬁnancial reporting
CSA Multilateral Instrument 52-109 requires the CEo and CFo to certify that they are responsible for establishing and
maintaining internal control over ﬁnancial reporting for the Company, that those internal controls have been designed
and are effective in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of ﬁnancial reporting and the preparation of
ﬁnancial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP. The CEo and CFo are also responsible for disclosing any changes
to the Company’s internal controls during the most recent interim period that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, its internal control over ﬁnancial reporting.
Management, including the CEo and CFo, does not expect that the Company’s disclosure controls or internal controls
over ﬁnancial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud or will be effective under all potential future
conditions. A control system is subject to inherent limitations and, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control systems objectives will be met.
Except for the limitation on scope of the internal controls over ﬁnancial reporting as noted below, the CEo and CFo have,
using the framework and criteria established in “Internal Control – Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring organizations of the Treadway Commission, evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of the
Company’s internal controls over ﬁnancial reporting and concluded that, as of March 31, 2011, subject to the inherent
limitations described above and the note below respecting Sortimat and ATW, internal controls over ﬁnancial reporting
were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information related to consolidated results and decisions to be made
based on those results were appropriate.
There were no changes in the Company’s internal controls over ﬁnancial reporting during the year ended March 31, 2011
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal controls over ﬁnancial
reporting.
Limitation on scope
The Company acquired Sortimat effective June 1, 2010 and ATW effective January 5, 2011. Management has not fully
completed its review of internal controls over ﬁnancial reporting for these newly acquired organizations. Since these
acquisitions occurred within the 365 days of the reporting period, management has limited the scope of design and
subsequent evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over ﬁnancial reporting, as permitted
under Section 3.3 of National Instrument 52-109, Certiﬁcation of Disclosure in Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings. For
the period covered by this MD&A management has undertaken additional procedures to satisfy itself with respect to the
accuracy and completeness of the acquired operations’ ﬁnancial information. The following summary ﬁnancial
information pertains to the acquisitions that were included in ATS’s Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended
March 31, 2011.
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(millions of dollars)
Revenue
Net income (loss)
Current assets 3
Non-current assets 3
Current liabilities 3
Non-current liabilities 3
1
2
3

Sortimat 1
66.3
(1.7)
26.2
65.3
22.4
4.0

For the Year Ended March 31, 2011
ATW 2
16.7
0.4
28.0
9.5
18.2
2.3

Results from June 1, 2010 to March 31, 2011
Results from January 5, 2011 to March 31, 2011
Balance sheet as at March 31, 2011

Other Major Considerations and Risk Factors
Any investment in ATS will be subject to risks inherent to ATS’s business. The following risk factors are discussed in the
Company’s Annual Information Form, which may be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
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Market volatility;
Strategy execution risks;
Spinoff risk;
Competition risk;
Automation systems pricing and revenue mix risk;
First-time program and production risks;
Cyclicality;
Foreign exchange risk;
International business risks;
Pricing, quality, delivery and volume risk;
Product failure risks;
Risks associated with the solar market;
Availability of raw materials and other manufacturing inputs;
Proﬁtability of Photowatt Technologies and reliance on PWF’s and PWo’s manufacturing facilities;
Customer risks;
Reliance of Photowatt on Government grants;
New product market acceptance, obsolescence, and commercialization risk;
Government subsidies for solar products and regulation of utility sector;
Liquidity and access to capital markets;
Expansion risks;
Availability of human resources and dependence on key personnel;
Intellectual property protection risks;
Risk of infringement of third parties’ intellectual property rights;
Internal controls;
Income and other taxes and uncertain tax liabilities;
Variations in quarterly results;
Share price volatility;
Litigation;
Legislative compliance;
International Financial Reporting Standards;
Dependence on performance of Subsidiaries.

ATS Automation Annual Report 2011

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2011

Note to Readers: Forward-Looking Statements
This management’s discussion and analysis of ﬁnancial conditions and results of operations and annual report of ATS
contains certain statements that constitute forward-looking information within the meaning of applicable securities laws
(“forward-looking statements”). Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other factors that may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of ATS, or developments in ATS’s business
or in its industry, to differ materially from the anticipated results, performance, achievements or developments
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include all disclosure regarding
possible events, conditions or results of operations that is based on assumptions about future economic conditions and
courses of action. Forward-looking statements may also include, without limitation, any statement relating to future
events, conditions or circumstances. ATS cautions you not to place undue reliance upon any such forward-looking
statements, which speak only as of the date they are made. Forward-looking statements relate to, among other things:
a potential spinoff of Photowatt or sale of PWF; beneﬁts of separation; structure of potential spinoff; timing of potential
spinoff; capitalization of Photowatt in spinoff scenario; ATW integration, including targeted margin improvements and
duration of the integration process; ATS’s plan to focus on completing the separation of ASG and Photowatt and pursue
growth, and the initiatives to support the plan, including initiatives in relation to leadership, business processes,
approach to market, acquisitions, and balance sheet strength; PWF’s restructuring plan which has the goal of recapturing
competitiveness; ASG business strategy, including completing the integration of acquired businesses, delivering
sustainable results, maintaining a solid operation platform, eliminating RED programs, reducing costs, increasing
standardization and improving quality and timely delivery, obtaining cost reductions through supply chain management,
growing key accounts, better serving customers through organizing around customer industries, and increasing the
funnel and win rate; with respect to ASG, management’s expectation of continuing volatility in order Bookings, impact of
order Backlog in short term, management’s belief that increased capital spending will lag behind the general economic
recovery, impact of implementation of strategic initiatives, targeting of cost reductions, impact of ATW acquisition on
revenues and operating margins; belief that ATS’s strong ﬁnancial position provides ASG with a solid foundation to
pursue organic growth and the ﬂexibility to pursue its acquisition growth strategy; plans to expand ATS’s position in the
global automation market organically and through acquisition, and review of acquisition opportunities; PWF strategy to
position business as a focused niche solar company and to strengthen leadership; PWF implementation of the announced
restructuring and expected reduction in workforce; PWF outsourcing of module production and other targeted areas of
cost reductions; markets that PWF will target; PWo seeking growth in its pipeline and continuing to work to optimize and
scale production; management’s beliefs with respect to the impact of reductions of FITs in certain countries, the eventual
annual limits in France, increased industry capacity and inventory levels, and impact of changes to the FIT program in
ontario; intended outcomes of PWF restructuring plan, the expected MW capacity of PWF, timing of implementation, and
PWF’s intention to take appropriate actions in response to market conditions; oSVP’s efforts to arrange ﬁnancing and
ultimate project ownership for its projects; planned supply of modules to oSPV by PWo and timing of revenue
recognition; PWo customer negotiations; expected ramp-up of capacity at PWo to meet demand in ﬁscal 2012; expected
supply by PWo of modules to other developers; two customer agreements signed subsequent to the end of the quarter,
minimum amounts to be supplied thereunder, and recognition of revenue in connection therewith; retention of PWo by
ATS for a period of time if an acceptable arrangement were to be made for the sale of PWF prior to the potential spinoff;
foreign exchange hedging; expectation that continued cash ﬂows from operations, together with cash and short-term
investments on hand and credit available under operating and long-term credit facilities, will be sufficient to fund
requirements for investments; the potential requirement for additional ﬁnancing in the event of a signiﬁcant acquisition;
seasonality of revenues; and the introduction, evaluation and adoption of new accounting policies and standards and
impacts thereof. The risks and uncertainties that may affect forward-looking statements include, among others: general
market performance including capital market conditions and availability and cost of credit; economic market conditions;
impact of factors such as increased pricing pressure and possible margin compression; foreign currency and exchange
risk; the relative strength of the Canadian dollar; performance of the market sectors that ATS serves; impact of conditions
in the solar and capital markets, Photowatt performance, impact of Works Council notiﬁcation and consultation process,
regulatory and tax environment, and unexpected delays and issues on the timing, form and structure of contemplated
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separation and the dual track process; that the anticipated beneﬁts of separation are not realized; that other
capitalization alternatives are not available in a spinoff scenario; that strategic initiatives within ASG and targeted
initiatives at ATW do not have intended positive impact and/or take longer than expected; that PWF’s restructuring plan
is not fully achieved and/or does not generate the desired results; that additional cost saving measures will cost more, or
take longer to implement, than planned; inability to successfully expand organically or through acquisition, due to an
inability to grow expertise, personnel, and/or facilities at required rates or to identify, negotiate and conclude one or
more acquisitions, notwithstanding ATS’s strong ﬁnancial position; that PWF’s market strategy is unsuccessful in
differentiating it and penetrating the markets it is targeting; the risk that the PWF restructuring project or other potential
future actions would not offset all competitive challenges; that potential PWF reduction in work positions is other than as
contemplated; that unexpected problems arise with the new module assembly outsourcing arrangements; the availability
and possible reduction or elimination of government subsidies and incentives for solar products in various jurisdictions,
including France and ontario; ability of ATS and oSPV to acquire the needed expertise, ﬁnancing, and buyers necessary to
effectively develop the ontario solar projects; the ﬁnancial attractiveness of, and demand for, those solar projects; the
success of developers with whom ATS has signed agreements in obtaining FIT contracts and ultimately developing the
projects; the potential for module supplies to customers or the ramp up to full production of the PWo 100 MW module
line to be hindered or delayed to due to an inability to procure necessary permits, approvals, materials or equipment on
a timely basis; ability to obtain necessary government and other certiﬁcations and approvals for solar projects in a timely
fashion; that one or more customers, or other persons with which ATS or its affiliates has contracted, experience
insolvency or bankruptcy with resulting costs or losses; that one or both of the customer agreements signed subsequent
to the end of the quarter is terminated or impaired as a result of a cancellation or material change in the feed in tariff
program in ontario and as a result contemplated minimum amounts to be supplied are not supplied with resulting
impacts on revenue and proﬁtability; political, labour or supplier disruptions in manufacturing and supply of silicon,
modules or other supplies; the development of superior or alternative technologies to those developed by ATS or
Photowatt; the success of competitors with greater capital and resources in exploiting their technology; market risk for
developing technologies; risks relating to legal proceedings to which ATS is or may becomes a party; exposure to product
liability claims of Photowatt; risks associated with greater than anticipated tax liabilities or expenses; potential for
adoption of new accounting policies to have unanticipated impacts; and other risks detailed from time to time in ATS’s
ﬁlings with Canadian provincial securities regulators. Forward-looking statements are based on management’s current
plans, estimates, projections, beliefs and opinions, and other than as required by applicable securities laws, ATS does not
undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements should assumptions related to these plans, estimates,
projections, beliefs and opinions change.

46

ATS Automation Annual Report 2011

Annual Audited Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2011 and 2010

MAnAGEMEnT’S rESPOnSIBILITY FOr FInAnCIAL rEPOrTInG
The preparation and presentation of the Company’s consolidated ﬁnancial statements is the responsibility of
management. The consolidated ﬁnancial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles. The consolidated ﬁnancial statements and other information in Management’s
Discussion and Analysis and the Annual Report include amounts that are based on estimates and judgments.
Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements are presented fairly, in all material respects. Financial information presented elsewhere in Management’s
Discussion and Analysis and the Annual Report is consistent with that in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, except as
described further in the “Non-GAAP Measures” section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Management maintains appropriate systems of internal accounting and administrative controls which are designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of ﬁnancial reporting and the preparation of ﬁnancial statements
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles as further described in the “Controls and
Procedures” section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Management’s responsibilities for ﬁnancial reporting are overseen by the Board of Directors (the “Board”), which is
ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated ﬁnancial statements. The Board carries out this
responsibility principally through its Audit and Finance Committee (the “Committee”).
The Committee is appointed by the Board and all of its members are independent directors. The Committee meets
periodically with management and the external auditors to discuss internal controls over the ﬁnancial reporting process,
auditing matters and ﬁnancial reporting issues, to satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities
and to review the consolidated ﬁnancial statements and the external auditors’ report. The Committee has reported its
ﬁndings to the Board which has approved the consolidated ﬁnancial statements and Management’s Discussion and
Analysis for issuance to shareholders. The Committee also considers, for review by the Board and approval of
shareholders, the engagement or reappointment of the external auditors.
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements have been audited on behalf of shareholders by Ernst & Young LLP, the external
auditors, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. The external auditors have full and free
access to management and the Committee.

Anthony Caputo
Chief Executive officer
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To the Shareholders of ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated ﬁnancial statements of ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc., which
comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at March 31, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equity and cash ﬂows for the years then ended, and a summary of signiﬁcant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's responsibility for the consolidated ﬁnancial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated ﬁnancial statements in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated ﬁnancial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated ﬁnancial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated ﬁnancial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
ﬁnancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated ﬁnancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated ﬁnancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the ﬁnancial position of ATS
Automation Tooling Systems Inc. as at March 31, 2011 and 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash ﬂows for the
years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Toronto, Canada,
June 1, 2011.
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SySTEMS INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2011

As at March 31
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Costs and earnings in excess of billings on contracts in progress (note 5)
Inventories (note 5)
Future income taxes (note 15)
Deposits and prepaid assets (note 6)
Property, plant and equipment (note 7)
Goodwill
Intangible assets (note 8)
Investment tax credits (note 15)
Future income taxes (note 15)
Portfolio investments
other assets (note 9)
LIABILITIES AnD ShArEhOLDErS' EQuITY
Current liabilities
Bank indebtedness (note 10)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 11)
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on contracts in progress (note 5)
Future income taxes (note 15)
Current portion of long-term debt (note 10)
Current portion of obligations under capital leases (note 10)
Long-term debt (note 10)
Long-term portion of obligations under capital leases (note 10)
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital (note 12)
Contributed surplus
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (note 13)
Retained earnings (restated – note 2)

$ 124,268
108,781
64,750
95,615
44
33,271
426,729

2010

$

182,298
69,459
33,832
20,749
32,674
1,958
31,537
$ 799,236

$

$

$

4,822
183,092
37,511
12,713
10,326
4,916
253,380
20,889
15,878

479,602
13,665
(41,029)
56,851
509,089
$ 799,236

211,786
85,995
42,924
80,280
553
27,492
449,030
171,451
34,350
4,864
20,878
35,243
3,602
33,380
752,798

26,034
118,518
30,216
12,326
10,830
4,260
202,184
4,420
17,985

479,542
11,244
(37,434)
74,857
528,209
$ 752,798

Commitments and contingencies (note 16)
on behalf of the Board:

David McAusland
Director

neil D. Arnold
Director

See accompanying notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements
49

ATS Automation Annual Report 2011

ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SySTEMS INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

2011

Years ended March 31
revenue
operating costs and expenses
Cost of revenue (note 5)
Selling, general and administrative (note 11)
Stock-based compensation (note 14)

$ 704,599

2010
$

602,466
107,087
2,852

Loss from operations
other expenses
Interest on long-term debt
other interest
Loss from operations before income taxes
Provision for / (recovery of ) income taxes (note 15)

577,777
506,418
79,516
3,274

(7,806)

(11,431)

1,443
787

1,261
786

2,230

2,047

(10,036)
7,970

(13,478)
(25,641)

net income (loss)

$ (18,006)

$

12,163

Earnings (loss) per share (note 17)
Basic
Diluted

$
$

$
$

0.14
0.14

(0.21)
(0.21)

See accompanying notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SySTEMS INC.

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity and Other Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Year ended March 31, 2011

Balance, beginning of year

Share
Capital
$ 479,542

Comprehensive income (loss)
Net loss
Currency translation adjustment
Net unrealized gain on derivative
ﬁnancial instruments designated as cash
ﬂow hedges (net of income taxes of $469)
Gain transferred to net income
for derivatives designated as cash ﬂow
hedges (net of income tax recovery of $965)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Contributed Income (Loss)
Surplus
(note 12)
$
11,244
$ (37,434)

retained
Earnings
$ 74,857
(18,006)
–

Total
Shareholders’
Equity
$ 528,209

–
–

–
–

–
(2,813)

–

–

1,897

–

1,897

–

–

(2,679)

–

(2,679)

Total comprehensive loss

(18,006)
(2,813)

(21,601)
–

Stock-based compensation (note 14)
Exercise of stock options

60

Balance, end of the year

$ 479,602

2,440
(19)
$

13,665

–

–

2,440

–

–

41

56,851

$ 509,089

retained
Earnings
$ 62,694

Total
Shareholders’
Equity
$ 566,447

$ (41,029)

$

Year ended March 31, 2010

Balance, beginning of year (restated – note 2) $
Comprehensive income (loss)
Net income
Currency translation adjustment
Net unrealized gain on available for-sale
ﬁnancial assets (net of income taxes of $nil)
Loss on available-for-sale ﬁnancial
assets transferred to net income
(net of income taxes of $nil)
Net unrealized gain on derivative ﬁnancial
instruments designated as cash ﬂow hedges
(net of income taxes of $1,321)
Losses transferred to net income for
derivatives designated as cash ﬂow hedges
(net of income taxes of $386)

Share
Capital
479,537

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Contributed Income (Loss)
Surplus
(note 12)
$
8,722
$
15,494

–
–

–
–

–
(57,693)

12,163
–

12,163
(57,693)

–

–

397

–

397

–

–

951

–

951

–

–

3,308

–

3,308

–

–

109

–

109

Total comprehensive loss
Stock-based compensation (note 14)

–

2,524

–

–

(40,765)
2,524

Exercise of stock options

5

(2)

–

–

3

74,857

$ 528,209

Balance, end of the year

$

479,542

$

11,244

$

(37,434)

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2011

Years ended March 31
Operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Items not involving cash
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets
Future income taxes
Write-down of inventories (note 5)
Write-down of property, plant and equipment (note 7)
Investment tax credit receivable
other items not involving cash
Stock-based compensation (note 14)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Gain on sale of portfolio investment

$ (18,006)

2010
$

12,163

19,678
4,521
4,116
9,254
9,009
129
–
2,852
137
(665)
31,025
9,692
40,717

22,261
2,027
(33,167)
45,919
–
(6,340)
2,921
3,274
45
–
49,103
7,511
56,614

Investing activities:
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets
Investments, silicon deposits and other
Business acquisitions (note 3)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on sale of portfolio investments
Cash ﬂows provided by (used in) investing activities

(32,090)
(2,341)
(3,467)
(67,649)
2,166
2,309
(101,072)

(20,595)
(1,335)
(8,887)
–
1,663
–
(29,154)

Financing activities:
Restricted cash (note 6)
Bank indebtedness (note 10)
Proceeds from long-term debt (note 10)
Proceeds from sale and leaseback of property, plant and equipment
Repayment of long-term debt (note 10)
Repayment of obligations under capital leases (note 10)
Issuance of common shares (note 14)
Cash ﬂows provided by (used in) ﬁnancing activities

(9,471)
(29,033)
21,211
1,747
(7,335)
(3,224)
41
(26,064)

10,406
28,683
6,864
8,685
(3,593)
(3,059)
3
47,989

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

(1,099)

(6,024)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

(87,518)
211,786

69,425
142,361

Change in non-cash operating working capital
Cash ﬂows provided by operating activities

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$ 124,268

$

211,786

Supplemental information
Cash income taxes paid
Cash interest paid

$
$

$
$

1,642
1,212

3,820
1,629

See accompanying notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SySTEMS INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

1. BASIS OF ACCOunTInG AnD SIGnIFICAnT ACCOunTInG POLICIES:
ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. and subsidiary companies (collectively “ATS” or the “Company”) operate in two
segments; Automation Systems and Photowatt Technologies. The Automation Systems segment business produces
custom-engineered turn-key automated manufacturing and test systems. The Photowatt Technologies segment is a turnkey solar project developer and integrated manufacturer of photovoltaic products.
These consolidated ﬁnancial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) on a basis consistent with prior periods. Amounts are stated in Canadian dollars
unless otherwise indicated. Certain ﬁgures for the previous year have been reclassiﬁed to conform with the current
year’s consolidated ﬁnancial statement presentation.
(a) Basis of consolidation: These consolidated ﬁnancial statements include the accounts of the Company. All signiﬁcant
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. The proportionate consolidation method is used to
account for investments in joint ventures in which the Company exercises joint control, whereby the Company’s pro rata
share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is consolidated.
(b) use of estimates: The preparation of these consolidated ﬁnancial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
Signiﬁcant estimates and assumptions are used when determining fair values of assets and liabilities acquired in a
business combination and when accounting for items such as impairment of long-lived assets, fair value of reporting
units and goodwill, warranties, income taxes, future income tax assets, determination of estimated useful lives of
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, impairment of portfolio investments, inventory obsolescence
provisions, revenue recognition, contingent liabilities and allowances for uncollectible accounts receivable.
(c) Foreign currency translation: The assets and liabilities of self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries are translated into
Canadian dollars at year-end exchange rates and the resulting unrealized exchange gains or losses are included in
accumulated other comprehensive income in shareholders' equity. The consolidated statements of operations are
translated at exchange rates prevailing during the year.
other monetary assets and liabilities, including long-term monetary assets and liabilities, which are denominated in
foreign currencies, are translated into Canadian dollars at year-end exchange rates, and transactions included in earnings
are translated at rates prevailing during the year. Exchange gains and losses resulting from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities are included in the consolidated statements of operations.
(d) Cash and cash equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid money market instruments
with maturities of 90 days or less.
(e) revenue recognition: Contract revenue in the Automation Systems segment is recognized using the percentage of
completion method. The degree of completion is determined based on costs incurred, excluding costs that are not
representative of progress to completion, as a percentage of total costs anticipated for each contract. Incentive awards,
claims or penalty provisions are recognized when such amounts are likely to occur and can reasonably be estimated.
Provisions are made for losses on contracts in progress when such losses ﬁrst become known. Revisions in cost and
proﬁt estimates, which can be signiﬁcant, are reﬂected in the accounting period in which the relevant facts become
known.
Revenue in the Photowatt Technologies segment and certain repetitive equipment manufacturing contracts within the
Automation Systems segment is primarily recognized when earned, which is generally at the time of shipment and
transfer of title to the customer, providing collection is reasonably assured. Revenue on certain long-term contracts in
the Photowatt Technologies segment is recognized using the percentage of completion method.
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SySTEMS INC.
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (continued):
Provisions for warranty claims and other allowances are made based on contract terms and prior experience.
(f ) Inventories: Inventories are valued at the lower of cost on a ﬁrst-in, ﬁrst-out basis and net realizable value. Cost of
raw materials includes purchase cost and cost incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition.
Cost of work in process and ﬁnished goods includes cost of direct materials, labour and an allocation of manufacturing
overheads, excluding borrowing costs, based on normal operating capacity. Net realizable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated selling costs.
(g) Property, plant and equipment: Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Amortization is computed
using the following methods and annual rates:
Asset
Buildings
Production equipment
other equipment and furniture

Basis

Rate

Declining balance
Straight-line
Straight-line
Straight-line
Declining balance

4%
25-40 years
3-10 years
3-10 years
20%-30%

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the terms of the related leases or their remaining useful life
on a straight-line basis.
Property under capital leases is initially recorded at the present value of minimum lease payments at the inception of
the lease.
(h) Goodwill and intangible assets: Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired enterprise over the net of
the amounts assigned to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, less any subsequent impairment
write-down.
Goodwill is subject to an impairment test on at least an annual basis or upon the occurrence of certain events or
circumstances which indicate that the asset might be impaired. The impairment test is carried out in two steps. In the
ﬁrst step, the carrying amount of the reporting unit is compared with its fair value. When the fair value of a reporting
unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is considered not to be impaired and the second step of
the impairment test is unnecessary. The second step is carried out when the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds
its fair value, in which case the fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill is compared with its carrying amount to
measure the amount of the impairment loss, if any. When the carrying amount of reporting unit goodwill exceeds the
fair value of the goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the excess and is presented as a
separate line item in the consolidated statements of operations.
The Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment assessment in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2011 and has
determined that there is no impairment of goodwill as of March 31, 2011 (2010 – $nil). The change in goodwill during the
year relates to foreign exchange and amounts assigned to goodwill as part of business acquisitions.
Intangible assets, which primarily include brands, customer relationships, technologies, computer software, patents and
licenses on technologies, are recorded at cost and amortized over their estimated economic life, ranging from 3 to 20
years, on a straight-line basis, except for brands which are not amortized.
(i) Impairment of long-lived assets: Long-lived assets such as property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. If the total of the estimated undiscounted future cash ﬂows is less than the carrying value of the asset, an
impairment loss is recognized for the excess of the carrying value over the fair value of the asset.
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SySTEMS INC.
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (continued):
( j) research and development costs: Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs which meet certain
criteria are capitalized and amortized over the period in which the Company expects to beneﬁt from the resulting product
or process. Research and development costs which are expensed by the Company are charged to cost of revenue as a
substantial portion of the expenses relate to customer contracts.
Capitalized development costs are reviewed annually for recoverability. When the criteria that previously justiﬁed the
recognition of an asset are no longer met, the unamortized balance is written off as a charge to earnings in that period.
When the criteria for asset recognition continue to be met, but the amount that can reasonably be regarded as assured
through recovery of related future revenues less relevant costs is exceeded by the unamortized balance of such costs, the
excess is written off as a charge to earnings in that period.
(k) Investment tax credits and government assistance: Investment tax credits (“ITC”) and government assistance are
accounted for as a reduction in the cost of the related asset or expense when there is reasonable assurance that such
credits or assistance will be realized.
(l) Income taxes: The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method of
accounting for income taxes, future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the
ﬁnancial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted or substantively enacted tax
rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The effect on future income tax assets
and liabilities of a change in rates is included in earnings in the period which included the enactment date.
Future income tax assets are recognized when the Company is satisﬁed that it will be more likely than not that the beneﬁt
will be utilized to offset future income taxes payable in the foreseeable future. The Company assesses, on an ongoing
basis, the degree of certainty regarding the realization of future income tax assets and whether a valuation allowance is
required. Accrued interest and penalties for uncertain tax positions are recognized in the period in which uncertainties
are identiﬁed.
(m) Stock-based compensation plans: Compensation expense is recognized for the Company’s contributions and
obligations under the Employee Share Purchase Plan, the Deferred Stock Unit Plan and the Stock option Plan. Details
regarding these plans are outlined in note 14 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
The Company expenses employee stock-based compensation using a fair value-based method of accounting for stockbased compensation. The fair value of time vesting based stock options is estimated at the grant date using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of performance-based stock options is estimated at the grant date
using a binomial option-pricing model. These models require the input of a number of assumptions, including expected
dividend yields, expected stock price volatility, expected time until exercise and risk-free interest rates. Although the
assumptions used reﬂect management’s best estimates, they involve inherent uncertainties based on market conditions
generally outside the control of the Company. If other assumptions are used, stock-based compensation expense could be
signiﬁcantly impacted. As stock options are exercised, the proceeds received on exercise, in addition to the portion of the
contributed surplus balance related to those stock options, are credited to share capital.
(n) Earnings per share: The calculation of earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares issued
and outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is calculated using the treasury stock method which assumes that
outstanding options which are dilutive to earnings per share are exercised and the proceeds used to repurchase shares of
the Company at the average market price of the shares for the period.
(o) Disposal of long-lived assets and discontinued operations: A long-lived asset that meets the conditions as held for
sale is measured at the lower of its carrying amount or its fair value less estimated costs to sell. Such assets are not
amortized while they are classiﬁed as held for sale. The results of operations of a component of an entity that has been
disposed of, or is classiﬁed as held for sale, are reported in discontinued operations if the operations and cash ﬂows of the
component have been or will be eliminated as a result of the disposal transaction, and the Company will not have a
signiﬁcant continuing involvement in the operations of the component after the disposal transaction.
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SySTEMS INC.
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (continued):
(p) Comprehensive income and equity: Comprehensive income is composed of the Company’s net income and other
comprehensive income which includes unrealized gains and losses on translating ﬁnancial statements of self-sustaining
foreign operations, changes in the fair value of the effective portion of cash ﬂow hedging instruments and changes in
unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets measured at fair value. The Company discloses
comprehensive income within its consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity and other comprehensive income.
(q) Financial instruments: All ﬁnancial instruments are initially recorded on the consolidated balance sheets at fair
value. They are subsequently measured at either fair value or amortized cost depending on the classiﬁcation selected for
the ﬁnancial instrument. Financial assets are classiﬁed as either “held-for-trading”, “held-to-maturity”, “available-forsale” or “loans and receivables” and ﬁnancial liabilities are classiﬁed as either “held-for-trading” or “other liabilities”.
Financial assets and liabilities classiﬁed as held-for-trading are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recorded
in the consolidated statements of operations except for ﬁnancial assets and liabilities designated as cash ﬂow hedges
which are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recorded as a component of other comprehensive income.
Financial assets classiﬁed as held-to-maturity or loans and receivables and ﬁnancial liabilities classiﬁed as other ﬁnancial
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Available-for-sale ﬁnancial
assets that have a quoted price in an active market are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in
other comprehensive income. Such gains and losses are reclassiﬁed to earnings when the related ﬁnancial asset is
disposed of or when the decline in value is considered to be other-than-temporary. Equity instruments classiﬁed as
“available-for-sale” that do not have a quoted price in an active market are subsequently measured at cost.
The Company primarily applies the market approach for recurring fair value measurements. Three levels of inputs may
be used to measure fair value:
•
•
•

Level 1 — unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable or can be corroborated
by observable market data
Level 3 — unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity

The Company has classiﬁed its ﬁnancial instruments as follows:
•
•
•
•
•

Cash and cash equivalents are classiﬁed as held-for-trading.
Accounts receivable and notes receivable included in other assets are classiﬁed as loans and receivables.
Investments in equities included in portfolio investments are classiﬁed as available-for-sale.
Bank indebtedness is classiﬁed as held-for-trading.
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt are classiﬁed as other ﬁnancial liabilities.

The Company has elected to expense transaction costs related to ﬁnancial instruments classiﬁed as other than held-fortrading. The Company has elected to use trade date accounting for regular-way purchases and sales of ﬁnancial assets.
(r) Derivative ﬁnancial instruments: The Company applies hedge accounting which enables the recording of gains,
losses, revenues and expenses from certain derivative ﬁnancial instruments in the same period as those related to the
hedged item. All hedging relationsips are formally documented, including the risk management objective and strategy.
on an ongoing basis an assessment is made as to whether the designated derivative ﬁnancial instruments continue to be
effective in offsetting changes in cash ﬂows of the hedged items. If the derivative is designated as a fair value hedge,
changes in fair value of the derivative and changes in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk
are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. If the derivative is designated as a cash ﬂow hedge, the
effective portions of the change in fair value of the derivative are initially recorded in other comprehensive income and
are reclassiﬁed to the consolidated statements of operations when the hedged item is recognized. Hedge accounting is
discontinued prospectively when it is determined that the derivative is not effective as a hedge, or the derivative is
terminated or sold, or upon sale or early termination of the hedged item. The Company has elected to apply hedge
accounting for certain forward foreign exchange contracts used to manage foreign currency exposure on anticipated
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BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (continued):
revenue and ﬁrm commitments and has designated these as cash ﬂow hedges. The fair value of these derivatives is
included in deposits and prepaid assets when in an asset position and in accounts payable and accrued liabilities when in
a liability position. Gains or losses arising from hedging activities are reported in the same caption on the consolidated
statements of operations as the hedged item. Derivative ﬁnancial instruments are carried at fair value and changes in
fair value of derivatives not used in hedging relationships are recorded in net income.
The nature of the items or transactions that the Company hedges and the Company’s hedging programs in relation to
these items or transactions are included in note 4 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
(s) Embedded derivatives: Embedded derivatives, which are components included in a non-derivative host contract
that have features meeting the deﬁnition of a derivative, are required to be accounted for separately when their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host instrument and the combined contract is not
recorded at fair value. The Company measures any embedded derivatives at fair value with subsequent changes recorded
in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company enters into certain non-ﬁnancial instrument contracts which
contain embedded foreign currency derivatives. Where the contract is not leveraged, does not contain an option feature
and is denominated in a currency that is commonly used in the economic environment where the transaction takes
place, the embedded derivative is not accounted for separately from the host contract.
2. ACCOunTInG ChAnGES:
During the year ended March 31, 2011, it was determined that a pension obligation that was originally assumed in 1998
should have been previously recognized. This arrangement has been recorded with an adjustment to decrease retained
earnings as of April 1, 2009 by $2,000 (net of tax of $nil) with a corresponding increase in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities. This adjustment had no material impact on reported earnings, cash ﬂows or earnings per share in prior periods.
3. ACQuISITIOnS:
(a) Sortimat: on June 1, 2010, the Company completed its acquisition of 100% of Sortimat Group (“Sortimat”). Sortimat
is a manufacturer of assembly systems for the life sciences market, and is headquartered in Germany with locations in
Chicago and a small, 60% owned subsidiary in India. Sortimat has been integrated with the Company’s existing
Automation Systems Group (“ASG”). The Sortimat acquisition aligns with ATS’ strategy of expanding its position in the
global automation market and enhancing growth opportunities, particularly in strategic segments, such as life sciences.
The ﬁnancial results of Sortimat are included in the ASG segment from the date of acquisition.
The total cash consideration for Sortimat is $52,160 (40,582 Euro), which includes acquisition-related costs, primarily for
advisory services, of $2,710. Potential future payments of up to $8,495 (6,610 Euro) which are payable subject to the
achievement of milestones related to operating performance and speciﬁc management services to be provided over the
next two years are not included in the cost of the acquisition. During the year ended March 31, 2011 the Company
recognized in selling, general and administrative expense $1,497 related to speciﬁc management services.
Cash used in the investment is determined as follows:
Cash consideration
Less cash acquired

$
$

52,160
(1,473)
50,687

The consideration was allocated to the underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their fair values at
the date of acquisition. The Company determined the fair values based on discounted cash ﬂows, market information,
independent valuations and management’s estimates.
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The allocation of the purchase price at fair value is as follows:
Purchase price allocation
Cash
Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
other long-term assets
Intangible assets with a deﬁnite life
Technology
Customer relationships
other
Intangible assets with an indeﬁnite life
Brand
Current liabilities
Long-term debt
Net identiﬁable assets
Residual purchase price allocated to goodwill

$

1,473
18,419
9,100
385
9,640
12,981
767

$

4,370
(29,755)
(3,590)
23,790
28,370
52,160

Non-cash working capital includes accounts receivable of $8,372, representing gross contractual amounts receivable of
$9,169 less management’s best estimate of the contractual cash ﬂows not expected to be collected of $797. Current
liabilities include a provision for restructuring costs of $983 (see note 11).
The primary factors that contributed to a purchase price that resulted in the recognition of goodwill are: the existing
Sortimat business; the acquired workforce; signiﬁcant experience and products in advanced system development,
manufacturing, handling and feeder technologies; time-to-market beneﬁts of acquiring an established organization in
key international markets such as Europe, Asia and the United States; and the combined strategic value to the Company’s
growth plan. A portion of the goodwill is deductible for tax purposes.
The consideration of the purchase price along with transaction costs were funded with existing cash on hand. This
acquisition was accounted for as a business combination with the Company as the acquirer of Sortimat. The purchase
method of accounting was used and the earnings have been consolidated from the acquisition date, June 1, 2010. From
the acquisition date, Sortimat has contributed approximately $66,157 in revenue and a net loss of $1,669, which includes
amortization of intangible assets related to the acquisition of $2,797.
(b) Assembly & Test Worldwide (ATW): on January 5, 2011, the Company completed its acquisition of the majority of
Assembly & Test Worldwide, Inc.’s U.S.-based and German automation and test systems businesses (collectively “ATW”).
ATW is a manufacturer of assembly and test systems, with capability in the transportation, life sciences and energy
segments.
The total cash consideration for ATW pending post-closing adjustments is $18,394 ($18,492 US), which includes
acquisition-related costs, primarily for advisory services, of $1,109.
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Cash used in the investment is determined as follows:
Cash consideration
Less cash acquired

$
$

18,394
(1,432)
16,962

The consideration was allocated to the underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their fair values at
the date of acquisition. The Company determined the fair values based on discounted cash ﬂows, market information,
independent valuations and management’s estimates. Final valuations of certain items are not yet complete due to the
inherent complexity associated with valuations. Therefore, the purchase price allocation is preliminary and subject to
adjustment over the course of ﬁscal 2012 on completion of the valuation process and analysis of resulting tax effects.
The preliminary allocation of the purchase price at fair value is as follows:
Purchase price allocation
Cash
Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets with a deﬁnite life
Customer relationships
other
Current liabilities
Deﬁned beneﬁt pension obligation
Net identiﬁable assets
Residual purchase price allocated to goodwill

$

$

1,432
28,673
990
1,700
74
(22,019)
(426)
10,424
7,970
18,394

Non-cash working capital includes accounts receivable of $13,677, representing gross contractual amounts receivable of
$13,826 less management’s best estimate of the contractual cash ﬂows not expected to be collected of $149.
Current liabilities include a provision for restructuring costs of $796 related to the consolidation of ATW’s Saginaw
division into other divisions in Livonia and Dayton (see note11).
The primary factors that contributed to a purchase price that resulted in the recognition of goodwill are: the existing ATW
business; the acquired workforce; signiﬁcant experience and products in the automation and test systems businesses;
time-to-market beneﬁts of acquiring an established organization in key international markets such as the United States
and Europe; and the combined strategic value to the Company’s growth plan. A portion of the goodwill is deductible for
tax purposes.
The consideration of the purchase price along with transaction costs were funded with existing cash on hand. This
acquisition was accounted for as a business combination with the Company as the acquirer of ATW. The purchase method
of accounting was used and the earnings have been consolidated from the acquisition date, January 5, 2011. From the
acquisition date, ATW has contributed approximately $16,652 in revenue and a net income of $407.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:
4. FInAnCIAL InSTruMEnTS:
(i) Categories of ﬁnancial assets and liabilities:
The carrying values of the Company’s ﬁnancial instruments are classiﬁed into the following categories:
2011

As at March 31

2010

Held-for-trading
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank indebtedness
Derivatives designated as cash ﬂow hedges(i) – gain
Derivatives designated as held-for-trading(i) – gain (loss)

$ 124,268
4,822
1,718
(1,657)

$

211,786
26,034
2,996
2,205

Loans and receivables
Accounts receivable

$ 103,097

$

81,741

Available-for-sale
Portfolio investments

$

1,958

$

3,602

$

153,872
31,215

$

86,279
15,250

other liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Long-term debt
(i)

Derivative ﬁnancial instruments in a gain position are included in deposits and prepaid assets on the consolidated balance sheets while derivative
ﬁnancial instruments in a loss position are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

(ii) Fair value measurements:
The following table presents information about the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring
basis as at March 31, 2011 and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques used to determine such fair value:
2011

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank indebtedness
Derivative ﬁnancial instruments

Carrying
value

Level 1

$ 124,268
4,822
61

$ 124,268
4,822
–

Fair value
Level 2
Level 3
$

–
–
61

$

–
–
–

Total
$ 124,268
4,822
61
2010

Carrying
Value
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank indebtedness
Derivative ﬁnancial instruments
Portfolio investments

60

$

211,786
26,034
5,201
1,645

Fair Value
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1
$

211,786
26,034
–
1,645

$

–
–
5,201
–

$

–
–
–
–

Total
$

211,786
26,034
5,201
1,645
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: (continued):
The estimated fair values of accounts receivable, bank indebtedness and accounts payable and accrued liabilities
approximate their respective carrying values due to the short period to maturity. The estimated fair value of long-term
debt approximates the carrying value due to interest rates approximating current market values. Derivative ﬁnancial
instruments are carried at fair value determined by reference to quoted bid or asking prices, as appropriate, in active
markets at period-end dates. The derivative contract counterparties are highly rated multinational ﬁnancial institutions.
(iii) Derivative ﬁnancial instruments and hedge accounting
Forward foreign exchange contracts are transacted with ﬁnancial institutions to hedge foreign currency denominated
obligations related to sales and purchases of products as well as net investments in subsidiaries. The following table
summarizes the Company’s commitments to buy and sell foreign currencies under forward foreign exchange contracts as
at March 31, 2011:

Currency sold

Currency bought

U.S. dollars
Euros
Euros
Euros
U.S. dollars
Canadian dollars
Canadian dollars
Canadian dollars
U.S. dollars
Euros
U.S. dollars

Canadian dollars
Canadian dollars
Swiss francs
U.S. dollars
Singapore dollars
U.S. dollars
Japanese yen
Euros
Malaysian ringetts
Singapore dollars
Euros

notional
amount sold

Weighted
average rate

65,042
53,339
3,950
2,433
2,100
2,043
1,152
1,039
263
150
148

1.0078
1.3374
1.2919
1.3961
1.2727
1.0035
83.3113
0.7316
3.0425
1.7823
0.7082

Management estimates that a gain of $61 would be realized if the contracts were terminated on March 31, 2011 (2010 –
gain of $5,201). Certain of these forward contracts are designated as foreign exchange revenue hedges, foreign exchange
purchase hedges and interest rate hedges (see interest rate risk) and have unrealized gains of $1,684, unrealized losses of
$33 and unrealized gains of $67 respectively which are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (2010 –
unrealized gains of $2,804, $192 and $nil respectively). These gains are not expected to affect net income as the gains will
be reclassiﬁed to net income and will offset losses recorded on the underlying hedged items. The revenue and purchase
hedges will mature within the next 18 months while the interest hedges will mature within the next three years. A loss
of $1,390 on forward foreign exchange contracts not designated in hedging relationships is included in net income (2010
– gain of $1,904) which offsets gains recorded on the foreign denominated items, namely accounts payable and accounts
receivable. A loss of $267 on forward foreign exchange contracts designated as a hedge of the Company’s net investment
in certain subsidiaries is included in the currency translation adjustment amount (2010 – gain of $301) which offsets
losses recorded on the foreign denominated net investments.
(iv) risks arising from ﬁnancial instruments and risk management
The Company is exposed to ﬁnancial risks that may potentially impact its operating results in either or both of its
operating segments: including market risks (foreign exchange rate, interest rate and other market price risks); credit risk;
and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of ﬁnancial markets
and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Company’s ﬁnancial performance. The Company uses derivative
ﬁnancial instruments to mitigate exposure to ﬂuctuations in foreign exchange rates. The Company does not enter into
derivative ﬁnancial agreements for speculative purposes.

61

ATS Automation Annual Report 2011

ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SySTEMS INC.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: (continued):
Currency risk
The Company transacts business in multiple currencies, the most signiﬁcant of which are the Canadian dollar, the U.S.
dollar, the Euro and the Singapore dollar. As a result, the Company has foreign currency exposure with respect to items
denominated in foreign currencies. The types of foreign exchange risk can be categorized as follows:
Translation exposure
All of the Company’s foreign operations are considered self-sustaining. Accordingly, assets and liabilities are translated
into Canadian dollars using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet dates. Unrealized translation gains and
losses are deferred and included in accumulated other comprehensive income. The cumulative currency translation
adjustments are recognized in income when there has been a reduction in the net investment in the foreign operations.
Foreign currency based earnings are translated into Canadian dollars each period at prevailing rates. As a result,
ﬂuctuations in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to these other currencies will impact reported net income.
Foreign currency risks arising from the translation of assets and liabilities of foreign operations into the Company’s
functional currency are generally not hedged; however, the Company may decide to hedge this risk under certain
circumstances. The Company has assessed the net foreign currency exposure of operations relative to their own
functional currency. A ﬂuctuation of +/- 5% in the Euro and US dollar, provided as an indicative range in a volatile
currency environment, would, everything else being equal, have an effect on accumulated other comprehensive income
for the year ended March 31, 2011 of approximately +/- $6,818 and $5,325 respectively (2010 – $9,844 and $4,415) and on
income from continuing operations before income taxes for the year ended March 31, 2011 of approximately +/- $287 and
$1,270 respectively (2010 – $450 and $1,371).
Transaction exposure
The Company generates signiﬁcant revenues in foreign currencies, primarily U.S. dollars, which exceed the natural hedge
provided by purchases of goods and services in those currencies. In order to manage this net foreign currency exposure
in subsidiaries which do not have the U.S. dollar as the functional currency, the Company enters into forward foreign
exchange contracts. The timing and amount of these forward foreign exchange contracts are estimated based on existing
customer contracts on hand or anticipated, current conditions in the Company’s markets and the Company’s past
experience. As such, there is not a material transaction exposure.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of ﬁnancial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a ﬁnancial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist of accounts
receivable and derivative ﬁnancial instruments. The carrying values of these assets represent management’s assessment
of the associated maximum exposure to such credit risk. Substantially all of the Company’s accounts receivable are due
from customers in a variety of industries and, as such, are subject to normal credit risks from their respective industries.
The Company regularly monitors customers for changes in credit risk. The Company does not believe that any single
industry or geographic region represents signiﬁcant credit risk. Credit risk concentration with respect to trade
receivables is mitigated by the Company’s client base being primarily large, multinational customers and through
insurance purchased by the Company. As at March 31, 2011, $32,052 of trade accounts receivable were past due date, of
which $11,645 or 11% of trade accounts receivable were more than 90 days past due date. The Company has provided for
$8,542 against speciﬁc receivables identiﬁed as being uncollectible. The movement in the Company’s allowance for
doubtful accounts for the year ended March 31, 2011 was as follows:
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2011

2010

Balance at April 1
Provisions and revisions
Foreign exchange

$

8,778
(241)
5

$

11,120
(866)
(1,476)

Balance at March 31

$

8,542

$

8,778

The Company minimizes credit risk associated with derivative ﬁnancial instruments by only entering into derivative
transactions with highly rated, multinational ﬁnancial institutions, in order to reduce the risk of counterparty default.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated with ﬁnancial
liabilities. As at March 31, 2011, the Company was holding cash and short-term investments of $124,268 and had
unutilized lines of credit of $76,309. Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company extended its existing
primary credit facility (the “Credit Agreement”) until April 30, 2012, as described in note 10 to the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements. The Company expects that continued cash ﬂows from operations in ﬁscal 2012, together with cash and shortterm investments on hand and available credit facilities, will be more than sufficient to fund its requirements for
investments in working capital, property, plant and equipment and strategic investments including potential acquisitions.
The Company’s accounts payable primarily have contractual maturities of less than 90 days and the contractual cash
ﬂows equal their carrying value. The Company’s long-term debt obligations, scheduled interest payments and obligations
under capital leases are presented in note 10 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
Interest rate risk
In relation to its debt ﬁnancing, the Company is exposed to changes in interest rates, which may impact the Company’s
borrowing costs. Floating rate debt exposes the Company to ﬂuctuations in short-term interest rates. During the year
ended March 31, 2011, the Company entered into interest rate swap contracts with approved ﬁnancial institutions to
reduce the exposure to ﬂoating interest rates. As at March 31, 2011, $42,869 or 75% (March 31, 2010 – $59,075 or 100%) of
the Company’s total debt is subject to movements in ﬂoating interest rates. A +/- 1% change in interest rates in effect for
the ﬁscal year would, all things being equal, have an impact of +/- $429 on loss from operations before income taxes for
the year ended March 31, 2011.
other market price risk
Equity price risk arises from available-for-sale equity securities. Material investments are managed on an individual
basis and all buy and sell decisions are approved by the Board of Directors. Included with available-for-sale assets is an
investment in a private company and its related subsidiaries for which there is not a quoted share price within an active
market. Accordingly, the investment is recorded at its initial cost of $1,958.
The Company utilizes long-term ﬁxed price contracts to secure future quantities of various commodities. The Company
does not enter into such commodity contracts other than to meet the Company’s expected usage and sales requirements;
such contracts are not net settled.
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CONTRACTS IN PROGRESS AND INVENTORIES:
5. COnTrACTS In PrOGrESS AnD InvEnTOrIES:
2011

As at March 31
Contracts in progress:
Costs incurred on contracts in progress
Estimated earnings
Progress billings
Disclosed as:
Costs and earnings in excess of billings on contracts in progress
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on contracts in progress

$ 505,504
116,101
621,605
(594,366)
$ 27,239

$ 338,624
80,766
419,390
(406,682)
$
12,708

$

$

$

64,750
(37,511)
27,239

$

2011

As at March 31
Inventories are summarized as follows:
Raw materials
Work in process
Finished goods

2010

$

45,440
20,575
29,600
$ 95,615

42,924
(30,216)
12,708
2010

$

$

45,984
8,585
25,711
80,280

The amount of inventory recognized as an expense and included in cost of revenue accounted for other than by the
percentage-of-completion method during the year ended March 31, 2011 was $245,058 (March 31, 2010 – $189,536). The
amount charged to net income and included in cost of revenue for the write-down of inventory for valuation issues
during the year ended March 31, 2011 was $9,254 (2010 – $45,919). The write-down of inventory in the year ended March
31, 2010 primarily relates to a decrease in market selling prices and limited future usability of speciﬁc products in the
Company’s Photowatt Technologies segment. The amount recognized in net income and included in cost of revenue for
the reversal of previous inventory write-downs due to rising prices during the year ended March 31, 2011 was $1,079
(2010 – $204).
6. DEPOSITS AnD PrEPAID ASSETS:
2011

As at March 31
Prepaid assets
Restricted cash(i)
Silicon and other deposits(ii)
Forward contracts and other

$

$

4,777
8,211
17,821
2,462
33,271

(i)

Restricted cash primarily consists of cash collateralized to secure letters of credit.

(ii)

Silicon deposits consist of deposits made on silicon supply contracts which are expected to be utilized against silicon
purchases within the next ﬁscal year. See note 16 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements for additional information.
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2010
$

$

4,231
582
16,335
6,344
27,492
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:
7. PrOPErTY, PLAnT AnD EQuIPMEnT:
2011
net book
value

As at March 31
Cost
Land and land improvements
Buildings
Leashold improvements
Production equipment
other equipment and furniture

$

28,944
129,547
6,006
136,099
51,084
$ 351,680

Accumulated
amortization
$

–
51,740
2,431
88,526
26,685
$ 169,382

$

28,944
77,807
3,575
47,573
24,399
$ 182,298

As at March 31
Cost
Land and land improvements
Buildings
Leashold improvements
Production equipment
other equipment and furniture

$

25,841
100,178
4,114
132,693
38,703
$ 301,529

2010
Net book
value

Accumulated
amortization
$

–
36,500
1,885
70,499
21,194
$ 130,078

$

$

25,841
63,678
2,229
62,194
17,509
171,451

Included in production equipment as of March 31, 2011 is $27,898 (March 31, 2010 – $25,530) related to assets purchased
under capital lease with accumulated amortization of $6,102 (March 31, 2010 – $2,523). The amount of amortization
charged to expense in ﬁscal 2011 related to assets under capital lease is $3,492 (March 31, 2010 - $2,376).
Included in production equipment and other equipment and furniture as of March 31, 2011 is $679 and $18,079 respectively
(March 31, 2010 – $1,063 and $11,789 respectively) of assets which are under construction and have not been amortized.
Included in operating income is $9,111 of property, plant and equipment impairment charges related to the restructuring
of Photowatt International S.A.S. as a result of the restructuring plan implemented in the year ended March 31, 2011. See
note 11.
8. InTAnGIBLE ASSETS:
2011
net book
value

As at March 31
Cost
Development projects
Computer software, licenses and other intangible assets
Technology
Customer relationships
Brand

$

$

65

12,482
20,288
10,065
15,497
4,673
63,005

Accumulated
amortization
$

$

11,916
14,419
924
1,914
29,173

$

$

566
5,869
9,141
13,583
4,673
33,832
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As at March 31
Cost
Development projects
Computer software, licenses and other intangible assets
Technology
Customer relationships
Brand

$

$

12,432
14,781
27,213

2010
Net book
value

Accumulated
amortization
$

$

11,602
10,747
22,349

$

$

830
4,034
4,864

During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company did not capitalize any development costs (2010 – $nil).
9. OThEr ASSETS:
2011

As at March 31
Silicon deposits(i)
other

$
$

(i)

28,159
3,378
31,537

2010
$
$

32,389
991
33,380

Silicon deposits consist of deposits made on silicon supply contracts which are expected to be utilized against silicon purchases beyond the next ﬁscal
year. See note 16 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements for additional information.

10. BAnK InDEBTEDnESS, LOnG-TErM DEBT AnD OBLIGATIOnS unDEr CAPITAL LEASES:
The Company’s primary credit facility (the “Credit Agreement”) provides total credit facilities of up to $85,000, comprised
of an operating credit facility of $65,000 and a letter of credit facility of up to $20,000 for certain purposes. The
operating credit facility is subject to restrictions regarding the extent to which the outstanding funds advanced under the
facility can be used to fund certain subsidiaries of the Company. The Credit Agreement, which is secured by the assets,
including real estate, of the Company’s North American legal entities and a pledge of shares and guarantees from certain
of the Company’s legal entities, is repayable in full on April 30, 2011. Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2011, the
Company amended the primary credit facility (the “Amended Credit Agreement”) to provide total credit facilities of up to
$95,000, comprised of an operating credit facility of $65,000 and a letter of credit facility of up to $30,000 for certain
purposes. The Amended Credit Agreement is repayable in full on April 30, 2012.
The operating credit facility is available in Canadian dollars by way of prime rate advances, letters of credit for certain
purposes and/or bankers’ acceptances and in U.S. dollars by way of base rate advances and/or LIBoR advances. The
interest rates applicable to the operating credit facility are determined based on certain ﬁnancial ratios. For prime rate
advances and base rate advances, the interest rate is equal to the bank’s prime rate or the bank’s U.S. dollar base rate in
Canada, respectively, plus 1.25% to 2.25%. For bankers’ acceptances and LIBoR advances, the interest rate is equal to the
bankers’ acceptance fee or the LIBoR, respectively, plus 2.25% to 3.25. Under the Amended Credit Agreement, for prime
rate advances and base rate advances, the interest rate is equal to the bank’s prime rate or the bank’s U.S. dollar base
rate in Canada, respectively, plus 0.90% to 1.90% until october 1, 2011 and 0.90% to 2.40% subsequently. For bankers’
acceptances and LIBoR advances, the interest rate is equal to the bankers’ acceptance fee or the LIBoR, respectively, plus
1.90% to 2.90% until october 1, 2011 and 1.90% to 3.40% subsequently.
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BANK INDEBTEDNESS, LONG-TERM DEBT AND OBLIGATIONS UNDER CAPITAL LEASES: (continued):
Under the Credit Agreement, the Company pays a fee for usage of the $20,000 letter of credit facility, which ranges from
2.25% to 3.25%. Under the Amended Credit Agreement, the Company pays a fee for usage of the $30,000 letter of credit
facility which ranges from 0.80% to 1.90%.
Under the Credit Agreement, the Company pays a standby fee on the unadvanced portions of the amounts available for
advance or draw-down under the credit facilities at rates ranging from 0.675% to 0.975% per annum, as determined
based on certain ﬁnancial ratios. Under the Amended Credit Agreement, the Company pays a standby fee on the
unadvanced portions of the amounts available for advance or draw-down under the credit facilities at rates ranging from
0.475% to 0.725% until october 1, 2011, and 0.475% to 0.850% subsequently.
The Credit Agreement is subject to debt leverage tests, a current ratio test and a cumulative EBITDA test. Under the
terms of the Credit Agreement, the Company is restricted from encumbering any assets with certain permitted
exceptions. The Credit Agreement also partially restricts the Company from repurchasing its common shares, paying
dividends and from acquiring and disposing of certain assets. The Company is in compliance with these covenants and
restrictions. The Amended Credit Agreement is subject to a debt leverage test, a current ratio test and an interest
coverage test.
The Company has issued letters of credit in the amount of $5,619 under the primary credit facility (March 31, 2010 - $2,027).
The Company’s subsidiary, Photowatt International S.A.S., has credit facilities including capital lease obligations of
$49,454 (35,985 Euro). The total amount outstanding on these facilities is $40,668 (March 31, 2010 - $55,940), of which
$548 is classiﬁed as bank indebtedness (March 31, 2010 - $26,034), $19,326 is classiﬁed as long-term debt (March 31, 2010
- $7,661) and $20,794 is classiﬁed as obligations under capital lease (March 31, 2010 - $22,245). The interest rates
applicable to the credit facilities range from Euribor plus 0.5% to Euribor plus 3.35% and 4.9% per annum. Certain of the
credit facilities are secured by certain assets of Photowatt International S.A.S. and a commitment to restrict payments to
the Company and are subject to debt leverage tests. The credit facilities which are classiﬁed as current bank
indebtedness, are subject to either annual renewal or 60 day notiﬁcation.
During the year ended March 31, 2011, Photowatt International S.A.S. and its lenders established a new term credit facility
of $19,800 (15,000 Euro). The credit facility, which is classiﬁed as long-term debt, was used to repay pre-existing credit
facilities of $6,111 (4,417 Euro) and to replace a credit facility classiﬁed as bank indebtedness in the amount of $11,069
(8,000 Euro). The credit facility bears interest at a rate of Euribor plus 3.35%, requires annual payments of $4,950 (3,750
Euro) and expires on october 15, 2014.
At March 31, 2011, Photowatt International S.A.S. was not in compliance with the debt leverage tests on certain of its
long-term credit facilities. Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2011, the lenders have waived their right to demand
repayment of the outstanding principal balances of $19,326 (14,062 Euro).
During the year ended March 31, 2011, Photowatt International S.A.S. established a credit facility of $26,112 (19,000 Euro).
The credit facility which is classiﬁed as bank indebtedness bears interest at a rate of Euribor minus 1.09% and is secured
by accounts receivable. As of March 31, 2011, Photowatt International S.A.S. had met requirements to access $401 (292
Euro) of the credit facility.
The Company has additional credit facility available of $18,441 (11,303 Euro, 41,163 Indian Rupee and 2,000 Swiss francs).
The total amount outstanding on these facilities is $7,855 (March 31, 2010 - $nil), of which $4,274 is classiﬁed as bank
indebtedness and $3,581 is classiﬁed as long-term debt. The interest rates applicable to the credit facilities range from
0.0% to 8.5% per annum. A portion of the long-term debt is secured by certain assets of the Company and the 2,000
Swiss Francs credit facility is secured by a letter of credit under the primary credit facility.
The PV Alliance joint venture has additional credit facilities as described in note 19.
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BANK INDEBTEDNESS, LONG-TERM DEBT AND OBLIGATIONS UNDER CAPITAL LEASES: (continued):
(i) Bank indebtedness
2011

As at March 31
Photowatt International S.A.S.
other facilities

$

548
4,274
4,822

$

2010
$
$

26,034
–
26,034

(ii) Long-term debt
2011

As at March 31
PV Alliance
Photowatt International S.A.S.
other facilities

$

Less: current portion
$

8,308
19,326
3,581
31,215
10,326
20,889

2010
$

$

7,589
7,661
–
15,250
10,830
4,420

Scheduled principal repayments and interest payments on long-term debt are as follows:
Principal
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
Thereafter

$

$

10,332
6,536
6,276
4,360
431
3,280
31,215

Interest
$

$

1,717
675
459
236
161
524
3,772

(iii) Obligations under capital lease
2011

As at March 31
Photowatt International S.A.S. future minimum lease payments
Less: amount representing interest

$

Less: current portion
$

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

22,205
1,411
20,794
4,916
15,878

Lease Payments
$
4,916
5,070
5,274
4,400
1,134
$ 20,794

2010
$

$

25,201
2,956
22,245
4,260
17,985

Interest
586
431
272
112
10
$
1,411

$

Interest of $429 (2010 – $600) relating to obligations under capital lease has been included in interest on long-term debt
expense in the current year. The interest rates applicable to the obligations under capital lease range from Euribor plus
1.38% to Euribor plus 1.9% and 4.9% per annum.
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RESTRUCTURING:
11. rESTruCTurInG:
In ﬁscal 2011, the Company’s subsidiary, Photowatt International S.A.S. initiated a restructuring project at its facility in
Bourgoin-Jallieu, France. During the year ended March 31, 2011, restructuring expenses of $11,969 were recognized in
selling, general and administrative expenses, primarily in relation to the Photowatt International S.A.S. restructuring
project.
In ﬁscal 2008, the Company commenced a restructuring program to improve operating performance. The restructuring
program included workforce reductions and the closure of underperforming, non-strategic divisions. In ﬁscal 2010, the
Company accelerated and expanded its previous restructuring program. In the year ended March 31, 2010, severance and
restructuring expenses associated with the closure of two divisions and other workforce reductions were $7,309,
primarily in the Automation Systems segment.
The following is a summary of the changes in the provision for restructuring costs:
2011

Years ended March 31
Balance, beginning of year
Severance and restructuring expense
Acquisition accrual
Cash payments
Foreign exchange
Balance, end of year

$

$

2,190
11,969
1,779
(5,800)
139
10,277

2010
$

$

4,535
7,309
–
(9,244)
(410)
2,190

12. ShArE CAPITAL:
As at March 31
Common shares:
Authorized
Unlimited shares
Issued:
87,289,155 shares (2010 – 87,278,155 shares)

2011

$ 479,602

2010

$

479,542

13. ACCuMuLATED OThEr COMPrEhEnSIvE InCOME (LOSS):
The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:
As at March 31
Accumulated currency translation adjustment
Accumulated unrealized net gain on derivative ﬁnancial
instruments designated as cash ﬂow hedges(i)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
(i)
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2011

2010

$ (42,308)

$

(39,495)

1,279
$ (41,029)

$

2,061
(37,434)

The accumulated unrealized net gain on derivative ﬁnancial instruments designated as cash ﬂow hedges is net of future income taxes of $439
at March 31, 2011 (2010 – $935).
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STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS:
14. STOCK-BASED COMPEnSATIOn PLAnS:
Employee Share Purchase Plan: Under the terms of the Company’s Employee Share Purchase Plan, qualifying
employees of the Company may set aside funds through payroll deductions for an amount up to a maximum of 10% of
their base salary or $10,000 in any one calendar year. Subject to the member not making withdrawals from the plan, the
Company makes contributions to the plan equal to 20% of a member’s contribution to the plan during the year, up to a
maximum of 1% of the member’s salary or $2,000. Shares for the plan may be issued from treasury or purchased in the
market as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. During the years ended March 31, 2011 and March 31, 2010,
no shares were issued from treasury related to the plan.
Deferred Stock unit Plan: The Company offers a Deferred Stock Unit Plan ("DSU Plan") for members of the Board of
Directors. Under the DSU Plan, each non-employee director may elect to receive his or her annual compensation in the
form of notional common shares of the Company called deferred stock units ("DSUs"). The issue and redemption prices
of each DSU are based on an average trading price of the Company’s common shares for the ﬁve trading days prior to
issuance or redemption. Under the terms of the DSU Plan, directors are not entitled to convert DSUs into cash until
retirement from the Board of Directors. The value of each DSU, when converted to cash, will be equal to the market
value of a common share of the Company at the time the conversion takes place. At March 31, 2011, the value of the
outstanding liability related to the DSUs was $1,239 (2010 – $827). The DSU liability is revalued quarterly based on the
change in the Company’s stock price. The change in the value of the DSU liability is included in operating results in the
period of the change.
Stock Option Plan: The Company uses a stock option plan to attract and retain key employees, officers and directors.
Under the Company’s 1995 Stock option plan (the “1995 Plan”), the shareholders have approved a maximum of 5,991,839
common shares for issuance under the 1995 Plan, with the maximum reserved for issuance to any one person at 5% of
the common shares outstanding at the time of the grant. Time vested stock options vest over four or ﬁve year periods.
Performance-based stock options vest based on the Company’s stock trading at or above a threshold for a speciﬁed
number of minimum trading days in a ﬁscal quarter. For time vested stock options, the exercise price is the price of the
Company’s common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange at closing for the day prior to the date of the grant. For
performance-based stock options the exercise price is either the price of the Company’s common shares on the Toronto
Stock Exchange at closing for the day prior to the date of the grant or the ﬁve-day volume weighted average price of the
Company’s common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange prior to the date of the grant. options granted under the 1995
Plan may be exercised during periods not exceeding seven or ten years from the date of grant, subject to earlier
termination upon the option holder ceasing to be a director, officer or employee of the Company. options issued under
the 1995 Plan are non-transferable. Any option granted which is cancelled or terminated for any reason prior to exercise
is returned to the pool and becomes available for future stock option grants. In the event that the option would
otherwise expire during a restricted trading period, the expiry date of the option is extended to the 10th business day
following the date of expiry of such period. In addition, the 1995 Plan restricts the grant of options to insiders that may
be under the 1995 Plan.
Under the Company’s 2006 Stock option plan (the “2006 Plan”), the shareholders have approved a maximum of 2,159,000
common shares for issuance. The terms of the 2006 Plan are identical to those of the 1995 plan, except that the maximum
number of common shares to be issued pursuant to the issue of options under the 2006 Plan is 2,159,000 shares.
As at March 31, 2011, there are a total of 1,616,531 (March 31, 2010 – 2,725,024) common shares remaining for future option
grants under both plans.
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STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS: (continued):
Years ended March 31
number of
stock
options
Stock options outstanding,
beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited/cancelled
Stock options outstanding,
end of year
Stock options exercisable,
end of year, time vested options
Stock options exercisable,
end of year, performance-options
As at March 31, 2011

range of
Exercise prices

number
outstanding

$3.49 to 5.95
$5.96 to 7.59
$7.60 to 9.97
$9.98 to 20.00
$3.49 to 20.00

1,935,150
2,794,667
1,285,903
1,449,447
7,465,167

2011
Weighted
average
exercise
price

Number of
stock
options

2010
Weighted
average
exercise
price

6,368,674
1,250,000
(11,000)
(142,507)

$

7.89
6.77
3.71
17.92

6,112,562
800,000
(1,000)
(542,888)

$

8.18
6.40
3.49
8.91

7,465,167

$

7.52

6,368,674

$

7.89

1,168,571

$

9.06

966,258

$

11.21

991,448

$

6.14

991,448

$

6.14

Stock options outstanding
Weighted
average
Weighted
remaining
average
contractual
exercise
life
price
4.10 years
5.16 years
6.88 years
6.61 years
5.46 years

$

$

4.69
6.87
8.17
11.96
7.52

Stock options exercisable

number
exercisable
843,001
592,667
239,069
485,282
2,160,019

Weighted
average
exercise
price
$

$

4.66
7.08
7.81
14.19
7.81

The expense associated with the Company’s performance-based stock options is recognized in income over the estimated
assumed vesting period at the time the stock options are granted. Upon the Company’s stock price trading at or above a
stock price performance threshold for a speciﬁed minimum number of trading days, the options vest. When the
performance-based options vest, the Company is required to recognize all previously unrecognized expenses associated
with the vested stock options in the period in which they vest.
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STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS: (continued):
As at March 31, 2011, the following expenses had not been recognized related to performance-based stock options:

Stock price
performance
threshold
$

8.41
8.50
9.49
10.41
10.50
11.08
12.41
13.08

number of
options
outstanding

Grant date
value per
option

Weighted
Average
remaining
vesting
period

166,667
889,333
41,667
266,667
889,333
218,667
266,666
218,667

1.88
1.41
1.66
2.11
1.41
2.77
2.11
2.77

0.3 years
1.7 years
3.7 years
1.5 years
2.5 years
0.9 years
2.4 years
1.8 years

Current
year
expense
(in ’000s)
$

92
254
12
124
217
151
103
123

remaining
expense to
recognize
(in ’000s)
$

27
414
44
177
535
135
242
224

The fair values of the Company’s stock options issued during the year were estimated at the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:
As at March 31
Weighted average risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Weighted average expected volatility
Weighted average expected life
Number of stock options granted:
Time vested
Performance based
Weighted average exercise price per option
Weighted average value per option:
Time vested
Performance based

2011
2.47%
0%
57%
4.75 years

2010
2.17%
0%
60%
4.55 years

1,250,000
–
$ 6.77

700,000
100,000
$ 6.40

$
$

$
$

3.34
–

3.19
3.59

The change in contributed surplus consists of amounts charged to stock-based compensation expense excluding DSU charges.
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INCOME TAXES:
15. InCOME TAXES:
(i) reconciliation of income taxes: Income tax expense differs from the amounts which would be obtained by applying
the combined Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate to loss from operations before income taxes. These
differences result from the following items:
2011

Years ended March 31
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes
Combined Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate
Income tax recovery based on combined Canadian
basic federal and provincial income tax rate

$ (10,036)
30.17%

$

(13,478)
32.80%

$

$

(4,421)

Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
Valuation allowance of future income tax assets
Permanent differences and rate changes
Manufacturing and processing allowance and all other items

Provision for (recovery of ) income taxes:
Current
Future

2010

(3,028)
23,364
(12,503)
137

(24,751)
3,897
(366)

$

7,970

$

(25,641)

$

3,854
4,116

$

7,526
(33,167)

$

7,970

$

(25,641)

(ii) Components of future income tax assets and liabilities: Future income taxes are provided for the differences between
accounting and tax basis of assets and liabilities. Future income tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following:
2011

As at March 31
Future income tax assets:
Loss carryforwards
Property, plant and equipment
Deductible pool of scientiﬁc research and development
expenditures not yet deducted for tax
ontario harmonization credit
other
Less valuation allowance
Future income tax assets, net
Future income tax liabilities:
Accounting income not currently taxable
Investment tax credits and other
Future income tax liabilities
Net future income tax assets
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$

$

60,072
3,695
28,886
1,450
7,211
101,314
55,338
45,976

2010
$

$

33,808
2,599
32,054
1,567
7,994
78,022
31,024
46,998

$

19,773
6,198
25,971

$

17,179
6,349
23,528

$

20,005

$

23,470
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INCOME TAXES: (continued):
Net future income tax assets (liabilities) are classiﬁed for consolidated balance sheet purposes as follows:
2011

As at March 31
Current assets
Long-term assets
Current liabilities

$

$

44
32,674
(12,713)
20,005

2010
$

$

553
35,243
(12,326)
23,470

(iii) Loss carryforwards: As at March 31, 2011, the Company has the following net operating loss carryforwards which are
scheduled to expire in the following years:
Year of expiry

non-Canadian

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017 – 2021
2022 – 2026
2027 – 2032
No expiry

$

$

2,243
1,969
958
905
399
2,213
5,452
1,210
158,974
174,323

Canadian
$

$

–
–
19
1,059
–
–
4,984
7,346
–
13,408

In addition, the Company has U.S. capital loss carryforwards of US$2,135 (2010 – US$2,135) and Canadian capital loss
carryfowards of $14,535 (2010 – $nil) that do not expire.
(iv) Investment tax credits: As at March 31, 2011, the Company has investment tax credits available to be applied against
future taxes payable in Canada of approximately $34,874 and in foreign jurisdictions of approximately $5,271. The
investment tax credits are scheduled to expire as follows:
Gross ITC
balance

Year of expiry
2012 – 2016
2017 – 2021
2022 – 2026
2027 – 2031
No expiry

$

$

510
406
10,647
28,379
203
40,145

The beneﬁt of $20,749 (2010 – $20,878) of these investment tax credits have been recognized in the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements.
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16. COMMITMEnTS AnD COnTInGEnCIES:
The minimum operating lease payments related primarily to facilities and equipment, purchase obligations and other
obligations in each of the next ﬁve years and thereafter are as follows:

Fiscal year
2012
2013 - 2014
2015 - 2016
Thereafter

Operating
leases

Purchase
obligations

$

$

$

5,830
9,812
6,225
2,524
24,391

$

135,345
77,252
65,499
76,131
354,227

The Company’s off-balance sheet arrangements consist of purchase obligations, various operating lease ﬁnancing
arrangements related primarily to facilities and equipment, and derivative ﬁnancial instruments which have been
entered into in the normal course of business.
The Company’s purchase obligations consist of silicon supply commitments and other materials purchase commitments.
The major silicon supply commitments are take-or-pay arrangements with ﬁxed price commitments.
In accordance with industry practice, the Company is liable to the customer for obligations relating to contract completion
and timely delivery. In the normal conduct of its operations, the Company may provide bank guarantees as security for
advances received from customers pending delivery and contract performance. In addition, the Company may provide
bank guarantees as security on equipment under lease and on order. At March 31, 2011, the total value of outstanding
bank guarantees available under bank guarantee facilities was approximately $40,154 (March 31, 2010 – $11,932).
In the normal course of operations, the Company is party to a number of lawsuits, claims and contingencies. Accruals
are made in instances where it is probable that liabilities have been incurred and where such liabilities can be reasonably
estimated. Although it is possible that liabilities may be incurred in instances for which no accruals have been made, the
Company does not believe that the ultimate outcome of these matters will have a material impact on its consolidated
ﬁnancial position.
17. EArnInGS (LOSS) PEr ShArE:
Weighted average number of shares used in the computation of earnings (loss) per share is as follows:
Years ended March 31
Basic
Diluted

2011

2010

87,280,846
87,648,966

87,277,222
87,477,971

For the year ended March 31, 2011, stock options to purchase 5,266,150 common shares are excluded from the weighted
average common shares in the calculation of diluted earnings per share as they are anti-dilutive (5,297,126 common
shares were excluded for the year ended March 31, 2010).
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18. SEGMEnTED DISCLOSurE:
The Company evaluates performance based on two reportable business segments: Automation Systems and Photowatt
Technologies. The Automation Systems segment produces custom-engineered turn-key automated manufacturing and
test systems. The Photowatt Technologies segment is a turn-key solar project developer and integrated manufacturer of
photovoltaic products. The business segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services and
each is managed separately.
The Company accounts for inter-segment revenue at current market rates, negotiated between the segments.
2011
Automation
Systems

Photowatt
Technologies

Consolidated

Revenue
Inter-segment revenue
Total Company revenue

$ 502,926
(14,538)
$ 488,388

$

216,211

$

216,211

Earnings (loss) from operations
Inter-segment operating loss
Stock-based compensation
other expenses
Total Company loss from operations

$

$ (50,283)

Provision for income taxes

$

Assets
Corporate assets and inter-segment

$ 523,325

$ 274,270

$ 797,595
1,641
$ 799,236

Total Company goodwill

$

64,310

$

5,149

$

69,459

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Corporate acquisitions, inter-segment transfers and other

$

8,503

$

22,854

$

31,357
733
32,090

64,235

7,692

$

278

$

719,137
(14,538)
$ 704,599
$

$

13,952
(2,155)
(2,852)
(16,751)
(7,806)

$

7,970

$
Depreciation and amortization from continuing operations
$
9,147
Corporate and inter-segment depreciation and amortization
Total Company depreciation and amortization from continuing operations
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14,415

$
$

23,562
637
24,199
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SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE: (continued)
2010
Automation
Systems

Photowatt
Technologies

Consolidated

$ 199,861
(2)
$ 199,859

$ 582,304
(4,527)
$ 577,777

$

$

Revenue
Inter-segment revenue
Total Company revenue

$
$

382,443
(4,525)
377,918

Earnings (loss) from operations
Inter-segment operating loss
Stock-based compensation
other expenses
Total Company earnings (loss) from operations

$

56,152

Recovery of income taxes

$ (20,205)

$

Assets
Corporate assets and inter-segment

$ 459,730

$ 280,305

$ 740,035
12,763
$ 752,798

Total Company goodwill

$

28,992

$

5,358

$

34,350

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Corporate acquisitions, inter-segment transfers and other

$

1,402

$

18,464

$

19,866
729
20,595

(47,673)

(5,436)

$

8,479
(977)
(3,274)
(15,659)
(11,431)

$

(25,641)

$
Depreciation and amortization from continuing operations
$
6,816
Corporate and inter-segment depreciation and amortization
Total Company depreciation and amortization from continuing operations

revenue
Canada
United States and Mexico
Europe
Asia – Paciﬁc and other
Total Company

Canada
United States and Mexico
Europe
Asia – Paciﬁc and other
Total Company

$

50,752
22,252
106,601
2,693
$ 182,298

Revenue

Property, plant
and equipment

18,596
212,990
244,934
101,257
$ 577,777

$

$

$

39,263
17,799
111,887
2,502
171,451

16,424

$
$

Property, plant
and equipment

28,932
222,664
310,531
142,472
$ 704,599

$

$

Goodwill
$

$

5,213
34,722
25,577
3,947
69,459

Goodwill
$

$

5,213
18,631
7,719
2,787
34,350

23,240
1,048
24,288

2011
Intangible
assets
$

$

3,463
37
30,294
38
33,832

2010
Intangible
assets
$

$

2,262
57
2,457
89
4,865

Geographic segmentation of revenue is determined based on the customer’s installation site. Long-lived assets
represent property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets that are attributable to individual geographic
segments, based on location of the respective operations.
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SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE: (continued)
During the year ended March 31, 2011 and the year ended March 31, 2010, the Company did not have revenue from any
single customer which amounted to 10% or more of total consolidated revenue.
19. InvESTMEnT In JOInT vEnTurE:
During the year ended March 31, 2010, Photowatt ontario Inc. entered into an agreement to establish ontario Solar PV
Fields Inc., a joint venture. In ﬁscal 2008, Photowatt International S.A.S. entered into an agreement to establish the PV
Alliance, a joint venture.
These are jointly-controlled enterprises and accordingly, the Company proportionately consolidated its 50% and 40%
share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses for ontario Solar PV Fields Inc. and PV Alliance, respectively, in the
consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
The following is a summary of the Company’s proportionate share of the joint ventures:
2011

As at March 31
Balance sheets
Current assets
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment tax credits
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Long-term debt
Net assets

$

$

$

$

(900)

$

4,001
(4,030)
679

4,933
4,960
2,107
562
(6,130)
–
(4,419)
2,013
2010

$

2011

Years ended March 31
Cash ﬂows provided by (used in)
operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

$

2011

Years ended March 31
Statements of operations
Net loss

6,761
7,778
2,924
–
(6,515)
(4,914)
(3,394)
2,640

2010

(61)
2010

$

1,679
(6,322)
6,736

The PV Alliance has loans from a shareholder proportionately worth 4,921 Euro (March 31, 2010 – 4,407 Euro). The loans
are repayable over ﬁve years, guaranteed by the signing of a pledge agreement, and bear interest at the maximum ﬁscally
deductible rate.
During the year ended March 31, 2010, the PV Alliance established a credit facility proportionately worth 8,015 Euro. The
total amount outstanding on the facility is 1,124 Euro (March 31, 2010 – 1,124 Euro). The credit facility bears interest of
6.19% per annum and is received when the program to develop solar cell technology meets certain cell efficiency targets.
The PV Alliance maintains an operating lease for a portion of the Photowatt International S.A.S. building used by PV
Alliance which results in annual lease payments proportionately worth 83 Euro. The contract with the lessee expires in
2018 with an option to terminate the lease in 2016. The lease contains an option to extend the lease for an additional
nine years.
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SySTEMS INC.
INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE: (continued):
During the year ended March 31, 2010, the PV Alliance entered into an agreement under which the regional government
of Rhône-Alpes in France committed to providing the PV Alliance with funding of 15,000 Euro over a ﬁve-year period,
conditional on certain employment levels being met in the region. During the year ended March 31, 2011, the PV Alliance
received government assistance of 672 Euro (2010 – 769 Euro) which has been included in operating earnings.
20. CAPITAL MAnAGEMEnT:
The Company’s capital management framework is designed to ensure the Company has adequate liquidity, ﬁnancial
resources and borrowing capacity to allow ﬁnancial ﬂexibility and to provide an adequate return to shareholders. The
Company deﬁnes capital as the aggregate of shareholders’ equity (excluding accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss)), bank indebtedness, long-term debt and obligations under capital leases less cash and short-term investments.
The Company monitors capital using the ratio of total debt to equity. Total debt includes bank indebtedness, long-term
debt and obligations under capital leases as shown on the consolidated balance sheets. Equity includes all components
of shareholders’ equity, less accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). This is unchanged from the previous year.
The capital management criteria can be illustrated as follows:
As at March 31
Shareholders’ equity excluding accumulated other comprehensive income
Long-term debt
obligations under capital leases
Bank indebtedness
Cash and short-term investments
Capital under management
Debt to equity ratio
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2011
$ 550,118
31,215
20,794
4,822
(124,268)
$ 482,681
0.1:1

2010
$

567,643
15,250
22,245
26,034
(211,786)
$ 419,386
0.1:1
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
nEIL D. ArnOLD
Mr. Arnold has over 35 years of experience in public company ﬁnance and general management. Most recently, he served as
Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors of WHX Corp., a public holding company for primary industrial businesses. He also
served as Group Finance Director of Lucas Varity, PLC, a public company providing components and systems to the global
aerospace and automotive industries with revenues in excess of $7 billion. Prior to that Mr. Arnold was Chief Financial officer of
Varity Corporation (previously Massey-Ferguson Ltd.). He has served as a director of Lucas Varity, and WHX Corp. At present Mr.
Arnold is a Director of Pembroke College Foundation of North America Inc. Mr. Arnold earned a B.A. in Engineering Science
from Pembroke College, oxford University and is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (UK).

AnThOnY CAPuTO
Mr. Caputo is the Chief Executive officer of ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. As an experienced senior executive he brings a
solid track record of over 25 years of delivering performance, growth and value creation in technology, manufacturing and
service environments. Most recently Mr. Caputo served as Corporate Vice-President, President and Coo of L-3 Communications,
and prior to that he was the President and CEo of Spar Aerospace. Mr. Caputo holds a Bachelor of Technology in Engineering
from Ryerson University and a Master of Science in organizational Development from Pepperdine University.

MIChAEL E. MArTInO
Mr. Martino is a founder and principal of Mason Capital Management LLC. Mr. Martino began his investment career at
oppenheimer & Company where he was responsible for risk arbitrage research; he ended his tenure at oppenheimer as
Executive Director, Risk Arbitrage. He began his business career at GE Capital Corporation where he held positions in
information systems and business analysis. He was formerly a director of Spar Aerospace Limited, a publicly traded aerospace
company. Mr. Martino graduated from Fairﬁeld University with a degree in Political Science and earned a Masters in Business
Administration in Finance and International Business from New York University’s Stern School of Business.

DAvID L. MCAuSLAnD
Mr. McAusland, the Chairman of the Board, is a senior corporate strategist, advisor and lawyer who is a partner in the law ﬁrm
McCarthy Tétrault. Previously, Mr. McAusland was Executive Vice-President, Corporate Development and Chief Legal officer of
Alcan Inc. where he provided leadership on its worldwide mergers, growth strategies, major transactions and capital
investments. Mr. McAusland currently acts as director of Cogeco Inc./Cogeco Cable Inc., Cascades Inc., Equinox Minerals Ltd. and
Khan Resources Inc.. He has, until recently, served as Chair of the Reform Implementation Council for the Royal Canadian
Mounted Police. Mr. McAusland is also involved with several not-for-proﬁt organizations: he is a director of Centraide, a director
of the Montreal General Hospital Foundation and Chairman of the National Circus School Foundation. Mr. McAusland received
his B.C.L. in 1976 and his LL.B. in 1977, both from McGill University.

GOrDOn E. PrEShEr
Mr. Presher is a uniquely qualiﬁed entrepreneur, possessing expertise in both the automation technology and solar industries.
He is the Co-Founder, Chairman and Chief Executive officer of Solar Sentry Corp., a seed-stage developer of innovative
monitoring equipment for the solar energy industry. Prior to Solar Sentry, Mr. Presher was Chairman and Chief Executive officer
of ormec Systems Corp., a factory automation ﬁrm specializing in precise motion control. He began his career as a controls
engineer at Eastman Kodak Company. Mr. Presher holds a Bachelor of Science in Physics and Math from Houghton College and a
Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering from University of Rochester.

nEALE X. TrAnGuCCI
Mr. Trangucci has been an officer of Mason Capital Management LLC since November 2005. During that time, he served as the
CEo and Chairman of Silicon Global Corporation. Prior to joining Mason, he was Chief Executive officer of WHX Corp. Previously,
Mr. Trangucci worked for Neuberger Berman, and before that time spent eight years in workouts and bankruptcies with
Continental Illinois Bank and Salomon Brothers. He has been a director of WHX, Wheeling-Pittsburgh Steel Corp. and WheelingNisshin, Inc. Mr. Trangucci holds a Bachelor of Science from Bucknell University and a Masters in International Affairs and
Finance and Banking from Columbia University.

DArYL C.F. WILSOn
Mr. Wilson is the President, CEo and director of Hydrogenics Corporation, a Canadian public company and hydrogen technology
provider. Prior to joining Hydrogenics he was VP Manufacturing and operations with Royal Group Technologies and Zenon
Environmental Inc. Preceding that he served on the senior management team of Toyota Motor Manufacturing Canada. Mr.
Wilson has been National Chair of the Environmental Quality Committee of the CMA. Mr. Wilson holds an MBA in operations
Management/Management Science from McMaster University; a Bachelor of Science in Chemical Engineering from the
University of Toronto; and has obtained a Chartered Director designation (C.C. Dir.).
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
Corporate headquarters
730 Fountain Street North
Cambridge, ontario
Canada N3H 4R7
Tel: (519) 653-6500
Fax: (519) 653-6533

Senior Management – Corporate
Anthony Caputo
Chief Executive Officer
Maria Perrella
Chief Financial Officer

Investor relations Contact
Carl Galloway
Tel: (519) 653-6500
Fax: (519) 650-6520
Email: investor@atsautomation.com

Charles Gyles
Corporate Vice President, Organizational Effectiveness

Stock Exchange Listing
Toronto Stock Exchange “ATA”

Ronald Keyser
Chief Information Officer

registrar and Transfer Agent
Computershare Trust Company of Canada
100 University Avenue, 9th Floor
Toronto, ontario M5J 2Y1

Stewart McCuaig
Corporate Vice President, General Counsel

Carl Galloway
Corporate Vice President, Treasurer

Patrice Pelletier
Corporate Vice President, Global Sales & Marketing

Web Site
www.atsautomation.com
Annual Meeting
Thursday, September 15, 2011 10 AM Eastern
Holiday Inn, Kitchener, ontario

Senior Management – Operations
Hans-Dieter Baumtrog
Senior Vice President, ASG Life Sciences
Helmut Hock
Senior Vice President, ASG Transportation
Marcus Horn
Senior Vice President, ASG Products
Eric Kiisel
Senior Vice President, ASG Energy & Industry
Thierry Miremont
Managing Director & CEO, Photowatt France
Chris Waters
Vice President & General Manager, Photowatt Ontario
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